



Planar Graphs With Bounded Treewidth and Their Upward Stack Number

Master's Thesis of

Samuel Schneider

At the Department of Informatics Institute of Theoretical Informatics (ITI)

Reviewer: Advisors:

PD Dr. Torsten Ueckerdt Second reviewer: T.T.-Prof. Dr. Thomas Bläsius Laura Merker, M.Sc. PD Dr. Torsten Ueckerdt

03.03.2024 - 03.09.2024

Karlsruher Institut für Technologie Fakultät für Informatik Postfach 6980 76128 Karlsruhe

Karlsruhe, 03.09.2024

(Samuel Schneider)

I declare that I have developed and written the enclosed thesis completely by myself. I have not used any other than the aids that I have mentioned. I have marked all parts of the thesis that I have included from referenced literature, either in their original wording or paraphrasing their contents. I have followed the by-laws to implement scientific integrity at KIT.

Abstract

A stack layout of a directed graph G is a topological ordering of the vertices V(G) together with a partition of the edges E(G) into stacks E_1, \ldots, E_k such that no two edges in the same stack cross. The stack number of a graph G is the smallest integer $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there exists a stack layout of G that uses k stacks. One of the biggest open questions regarding the stack number is whether upward planar graphs have bounded stack number. We advance the state of the art by showing that upward planar 2-trees, i. e. directed edge-maximal graphs with treewidth 2 that have an upward orientation, have constant stack number.

The second part of this thesis is dedicated to showing that every planar graph with treewidth at most 4 is a subgraph of a *planar quasi-4-tree*. This confirms a conjecture by Förster [50] from 2024. Furthermore, we generalize the notion of planar quasi-4-trees to *planar quasi-k-trees* and show that every planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first characterization for planar graphs with treewidth larger than 3.

Finally, we show bounds on the stack number for several subclasses of upward planar quasi-4-trees.

Zusammenfassung

Ein Stack Layout eines gerichteten Graphen G ist eine topologische Sortierung der Knoten V(G) zusammen mit einer Partition in Stacks E_1, \ldots, E_k , sodass sich keine zwei Kanten in dem selben Stack kreuzen. Die Stack Number eines Graphen G ist das kleinste $k \in \mathbb{N}$, für das ein Stack Layout mit k Stacks von G existiert. Eine der größten offenen Fragen bezüglich der Stack Number ist ob *upward* planare Graphen konstante Stack Number haben. Diese Arbeit macht Fortschritt in der Beantwortung dieser Frage, indem gezeigt wird, dass upward planare 2-Bäume, also kantenmaximale Graphen mit Baumweite 2 mit einer upward Orientierung, konstante Stack Number haben.

Im zweiten Teil dieser Arbeit wird gezeigt, dass jeder planare Graph mit Baumweite höchstens 4 Teilgraph eines *planaren quasi-4-Baums* ist. Dies bestätigt eine Vermutung von Förster [50] von 2024. Außerdem werdem planare quasi-4-Bäume zu *planaren quasi-k-Bäumen* verallgemeinert und gezeigt, dass jeder planare Graph mit Baumweite k Teilgraph eines planaren quasi-k-Baums ist.

Des Weiteren werden obere Schranken für die Stack Number von mehreren Teilklassen von upward planaren quasi-4-Bäumen gezeigt.

Contents

| 1 | Introduction | | 1 |
|--------------|--|---|----|
| | 1.1 | Outline | 2 |
| | 1.2 | Related Work | 2 |
| | | 1.2.1 Stack Number | 2 |
| | | 1.2.2 Other Linear Layouts | 4 |
| | 1.3 | Results | 5 |
| 2 | Stack Number, Twist Number, Treewidth and (Upward) Planarity | | |
| | 2.1 | Notation | 7 |
| | 2.2 | Stack Number and Twist Number | 7 |
| | 2.3 | Planar Graphs With Bounded Treewidth | 9 |
| | 2.4 | Upward Planarity and Treewidth | 15 |
| 3 | Upv | vard Planar 2-Trees | 17 |
| 4 | Planar Quasi-k-Trees | | 25 |
| 5 | Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees | | 37 |
| | 5.1 | Upward and Canonically Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees | 37 |
| | 5.2 | Nice Canonically Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees With Bounded Depth | 44 |
| | 5.3 | Quadrangulations With Only Sources and Sinks | 50 |
| 6 | Con | clusion | 55 |
| Bibliography | | | 57 |

1 Introduction

A *linear layout* of an undirected graph *G* is a total ordering < of the vertices V(G) together with a partition of the edges E(G) into parts E_1, \ldots, E_k such that each part fulfills certain properties. Similarly, a linear layout of a *directed acyclic graph G* is a *topological* ordering < of the vertices V(G) together with a partition of the edges E(G) into parts E_1, \ldots, E_k such that each part fulfills certain properties. These properties depend on the type of linear layout with the most important linear layouts being *stack layouts* and *queue layouts*. A stack layout is a linear layout such that no two edges in the same set *cross*, i. e. there is no set E_i with $1 \le i \le k$ such that there are two edges $ab, uv \in E_i$ with a < u < b < v. We refer to the sets E_1, \ldots, E_k of a stack layout as *stacks*. A queue layout is a linear layout such that no two edges in the same set *nest* i. e. there is no set E_i with $1 \le i \le k$ such that there are two edges $ab, uv \in E_i$ with a < u < v < b. We refer to the sets E_1, \ldots, E_k of a queue layout as *queue*. The *stack number* sn(G) (*queue number* qn(G)) of G is the smallest number of stacks (queues) in a stack layout (queue layout) of G.

Linear layouts are mostly of theoretical interest as they improve our understanding of the interaction of three of the most fundamental data structures — graphs, stacks and queues. Notably, their investigation has led to structural insights into different graph classes including planar graphs due to the concept of *product structure*¹ [39]. However, there are also some applications that use linear layouts. This includes VLSI design [22], fault-tolerant arrays of processors [82], and three-dimensional drawings [31, 43].

Linear layouts have been studied extensively for different graph classes. On undirected graphs, the class of all planar graphs has been at the center of research. For both the stack number [20, 55, 89] and the queue number [5, 39] there are constant bounds known. For directed graphs, we first need to observe that linear layouts are only defined for graphs without directed cycles. This is the case as a graph has a topological ordering if and only if it does not have a directed cycle. A natural graph class that contains no graphs with directed cycles is the class of all *upward planar* graphs. A graph is upward planar if it has a planar embedding such that every edge is *y*-monotone. This immediately implies that there are no directed cycles in an upward planar graph. It is a long-standing open question whether upward planar graphs have bounded stack number [75].

There are several important subclasses of upward planar graphs where a constant upper bound on the stack number is known. This includes directed acyclic outerplanar graphs [66] and upward planar 3-trees² [52, 74]. However, the upper bound on upward planar 3-trees does not imply that all upward planar graphs of treewidth at most 3 have constant stack number. In this thesis, we show that upward planar 2-trees have bounded stack number as well. As directed trees have bounded stack number [60], this implies that all upward planar edge-maximal graphs with treewidth at most 3 have bounded stack number. These results and the lack of results for general upward planar graphs with treewidth at most 3 suggest that it might be of interest to look at upward planar edge-maximal graphs with treewidth *k* for *k* larger than 3. However, even in the undirected case, there is not a good understanding of

¹For a definition of *product structure*, refer to Section 2.3.

²A 3-tree is an edge maximal graph with treewidth 3. We define 3-trees formally in Section 2.3.

edge-maximal planar graphs with treewidth k for k > 3. Due to the novel concept of product structure, a good understanding of planar graphs with treewidth 4 and 6 might translate to a better understanding of all planar graphs. Thus, it is of high interest to improve our understanding of these graphs.

Recently, Förster [50] introduced the concept of *planar quasi-4-trees* and conjectured that this class includes all edge-maximal planar graphs of treewidth 4. We answer their conjecture in the positive. Furthermore, we generalize the graph class to *planar quasi-k-trees* and show that every planar graph of treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. We complement this with some bounds on the stack number for subclasses of upward planar quasi-4-trees.

1.1 Outline

We start by giving an overview of the existing results on the stack number and other linear layouts in Section 1.2 and a list of our results in Section 1.3. Then, we introduce the notation used throughout this thesis and define the relevant graph theoretic concepts in Chapter 2. In Chapter 3, we examine the stack number of upward planar 2-trees and give the first constant upper bound on their stack number. In Chapter 4, we introduce *planar quasi-k-trees* building on the definition of *planar quasi-4-trees* by Förster [50] and show that all planar graphs of treewidth at most k are a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. In Chapter 5, we define *upward planar quasi-4-trees* and give upper bounds for two subclasses of these graphs.

Finally, we conclude this thesis in Chapter 6 with a discussion of our results and multiple open questions motivated by our findings.

1.2 Related Work

In this section, we give an overview of the related work on the stack number and some other types of linear layouts. For a survey of results on linear layouts that is regularly maintained, we refer to a survey by Pupyrev [79].

1.2.1 Stack Number

Undirected graphs. The *stack number*, also known as *page number* or *book thickness* of an undirected graph, was first introduced by Bernhart and Kainen [10] in 1979. They show that a graph has stack number 1 if and only if it is outerplanar. Furthermore, they show that a graph has stack number at most 2 if and only if it is a subgraph of a planar Hamiltonian graph and that the stack number of a graph is equal to the maximum stack number of its 2-connected components. They conjecture that the stack number of planar graphs is unbounded, which was disproved by Buss and Shor [20] showing that nine stacks suffice for planar graphs in 1984. Later, this was improved by Heath [55] to seven stacks and by Yannakakis [89] to four stacks. This bound then was shown to be tight independently by Bekos, Kaufmann, Klute, Pupyrev, Raftopoulou, and Ueckerdt [9] and Yannakakis [90] in 2020.

There are also several results on graphs that are not planar. For example, Chung, Leighton, and Rosenberg [23] show that every complete graph K_n has stack number at most $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$, Enomoto, Nakamigawa, and Ota [48] show that every complete bipartite graph $K_{n,n}$ has stack number at most $\lfloor \frac{2n}{3} \rfloor + 1$, and Malitz [70] shows that every graph *G* has stack number bounded by $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{|E(G)|})$, which is achieved by complete graphs.

Blankenship [14] shows that for every proper minor-closed graph class \mathcal{G} , there is a $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that every graph $G \in \mathcal{G}$ has stack number at most k. There are also results on graph classes that are not proper minor-closed. For example, Dujmović and Frati [37] show that every (g, d)-map graph has stack number in $\mathcal{O}(\log |V(G)|)$ for fixed g and d and every (g, k)-planar³ graph has stack number in $\mathcal{O}(\log |V(G)|)$ for fixed g and k. Furthermore, Bekos, Da Lozzo, Griesbach, Gronemann, Montecchiani, and Raftopoulou [7] show that the stack number of k-map graphs is at most 6k + 7 and at most 25 for optimal⁴ 2-planar graphs. Their results are improved on by Brandenburg [18], who shows that the stack number of k-map graphs is at most 17 for optimal 2-planar graphs. Furthermore, Brandenburg [19] shows that the stack number of 1-planar graphs is at most 10. Malitz [69] shows that every graph of genus g has stack number in $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{g})$, proving a conjecture by Heath and Istrail [56] who showed that there are graphs with genus g that need $\Omega(\sqrt{g})$ stacks.

There are several results on *k*-trees⁵. Ganley and Heath [53] show that every *k*-tree has stack number at most k + 1 and that there exist *k*-trees that require *k* stacks. They conjecture that every *k*-tree has stack number at most *k*. Dujmovic and Wood [32] disprove this for every $k \ge 3$ by constructing a graph with treewidth *k* that requires k + 1 stacks. As Rengarajan and Veni Madhavan [80] show that 2-trees have stack number at most 2, this yields a tight bound. For the related concept of pathwidth, Togasaki and Yamazaki [83] show that graphs with pathwidth *k* have stack number at most *k* and graphs with strong pathwidth *k* have stack number at $\lceil \frac{3(k-1)}{2} \rceil$ and $3 \lceil \frac{k}{2} \rceil$.

Directed graphs. The stack number of *directed* graphs was introduced by Nowakowski and Parker [75] in 1989 as a notion on posets. In 1999, Heath, Pemmaraju, and Trenk [59, 60] introduced it explicitly for directed graphs. Furthermore, Heath, Pemmaraju, and Trenk showed that a single stack suffices for all directed trees and two stacks suffice for all unicyclic directed acyclic graphs. They raise the question whether all upward planar graphs have bounded stack number. While Heath and Pemmaraju [58] show that there are directed planar graphs that have unbounded stack number, it is still unclear whether the stack number is bounded on upward planar graphs. Since then, the stack number has been extensively studied on several subclasses of upward planar graphs.

Bhore, Da Lozzo, Montecchiani, and Nöllenburg [11] show that several subclasses of upward outerplanar graphs have bounded stack number. Furthermore, there are results for several subclasses of upward planar graphs that need at most two stacks. This includes two terminal series-parallel digraphs [28], *N*-free graphs [72], and upward planar graphs whose faces have a special structure [13].

Frati, Fulek, and Ruiz-Vargas [52] show that every upward planar triangulation has stack number o(n) if and only if every upward planar triangulation with maximum degree in $O(\sqrt{n})$ has stack number in o(n) and that upward planar 3-trees have bounded stack number. Nöllenburg and Pupyrev [74] improve their result on upward planar 3-trees by showing that their *twist number* is at most 5. They show that this bound on the twist number is tight and use a result by Davies [25] relating the stack number of a graph to its twist number to show that the stack number of upward planar 3-trees is at most 85. Furthermore, they improve upper bounds on several subclasses of upward outerplanar graphs.

³A graph is (g, k)-planar if and only if it has an embedding on a surface with Euler genus g where every edge is crossed at most k times.

⁴A *k*-planar graph is *optimal* if and only if it is a *k*-planar graph with the maximum number of edges.

 $^{{}^{5}}A k$ -tree is an edge maximal graph with treewidth k. We define k-trees formally in Section 2.3.

Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [65] showed the first sublinear bound for all upward planar graphs in 2023. Namely, they show that every upward planar graph has stack number in $\mathcal{O}(n^{2/3}\log^{2/3}(n))$. Additionaly, they construct (independently of Nöllenburg and Pupyrev) an upward planar graph with twist number (and thus stack number) at least 5.

In a different paper, Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [66] show that all outerplanar directed acyclic graphs have bounded stack number. Namely, they show that they have stack number at most 24 776 (the best currently known lower bound is 4 by Nöllenburg and Pupyrev [74]). Furthermore, Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt give a construction for a directed acyclic 2-tree that has unbounded stack number, improving on the existing construction with treewidth 3.

Algorithmic results. The first \mathcal{NP} -hardness result is due to Heath and Pemmaraju [59] who show that testing whether a directed graph admits a stack layout using six stacks is \mathcal{NP} -complete and conjecture that it is \mathcal{NP} -complete even for two stacks. Binucci, Da Lozzo, Di Giacomo, Didimo, Mchedlidze, and Patrignani [13] improve on this result and show that testing whether a directed graph admits a *k*-stack layout is \mathcal{NP} -complete for $k \geq 3$. For k = 2, they give an $\mathcal{O}(f(\beta) \cdot n + n^3)$ time algorithm with β being the branchwidth of the graph and f being a singly-exponential function on β . This means that the problem is FPT in β . Finally, Bekos, Da Lozzo, Frati, Gronemann, Mchedlidze, and Raftopoulou [6] show that testing whether a directed graph admits a 2-stack layout is \mathcal{NP} -complete and thus confirming the conjecture of Heath and Pemmaraju.

Bhore, Da Lozzo, Montecchiani, and Nöllenburg [11] show that the problem is FPT in the vertex cover number⁶ τ of the graph and give an $\mathcal{O}(\tau^{\tau^{\mathcal{O}(\tau)}} + \tau \cdot n)$ time algorithm for it. Furthermore, Bhore, Da Lozzo, Montecchiani, and Nöllenburg show that the problem is \mathcal{NP} -hard for every fixed $k \geq 5$ even if the graph has domination number⁷ in $\mathcal{O}(k)$.

1.2.2 Other Linear Layouts

Besides stack layouts, there are several other kinds of linear layouts, with the most prominent being queue layouts. They were first introduced by Heath and Rosenberg [61] in 1992. Heath and Rosenberg focus on graphs that admit 1-queue layouts and show that testing whether a graph admits a 1-queue layout is \mathcal{NP} -complete. Furthermore, they give a characterization of 1-queue graphs and show that every 1-queue graph admits a 2-stack layout and every 1-stack graph admits a 2-queue layout. In the same year, Heath, Leighton, and Rosenberg [57] conjectured that all planar graphs have bounded queue number. In 2020, this conjecture was answered in the positive by Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood [39] using the novel concept of *product structure*⁸. They show that the queue number of planar graphs is at most 49. Furthermore, they show that graphs with genus *g* have queue number in $\mathcal{O}(g)$, proper minor-closed graph classes have constant queue number, and *k*-planar graphs have queue number in $\mathcal{O}(f(k))$ with *f* being exponential in *k*. Their result on planar graphs was then improved to 42 by Bekos, Gronemann, and Raftopoulou [5] by refining the proof of Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood is 28 due to Förster, Kaufmann, Merker, Pupyrev, and

⁶A *vertex cover* of a graph G = (V, E) is a subset $C \subseteq V$ such that each edge in E is incident to at least one vertex in C. The vertex cover number $\tau(G)$ of G is the size of the smallest vertex cover of G.

⁷A *dominating set* of a graph G = (V, E) is a subset $D \subseteq V$ such that every vertex in V - D is adjacent to at least one vertex in D. The *domination number* $\gamma(G)$ of G is the size of its smallest dominating set.

⁸For a definition of *product structure*, refer to Section 2.3.

Raftopoulou [51]. There are also several results on non-planar graphs. This includes a tight bound of *k* for graphs with pathwidth *k* [86], a lower bound of *k* + 1 and an upper bound of $2^k - 1$ for graphs with treewidth *k* [85], and tight bounds of $\lfloor \frac{n}{2} \rfloor$ for complete graphs K_n and $\min\{\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil, \lceil \frac{m}{2} \rceil\}$ for complete bipartite graphs $K_{n,m}$ [61].

Other types of linear layouts include *track layouts* where every track has to be an independent set and edges between each pair of tracks must be non-crossing [4, 29, 42, 43, 78, 87] and *mixed page layouts* where every set of edges is either a stack or a queue [3, 24, 44, 47, 54, 62, 77].

1.3 Results

In this section, we present the main results of this thesis. For a definition of the notation that is used, refer to Chapter 2. For a graph G, we refer to the stack number of G as sn(G), the twist number of G as tn(G), and the treewidth of G as tw(G).

The first contribution of this thesis is a bound on the twist number of upward planar 2-trees that is only dependent on the twist number of outerplanar directed acyclic graphs.

Theorem 1.1: The twist number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $tn(G) \le 13(c+2) + 1$, with c being an upper bound on the twist number for the class of all outerplanar directed acyclic graphs.

Using Theorem 1.1 together with the currently best upper bound on the twist number of outerplanar directed acyclic graphs by Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [66], we get the following corollary.

Corollary 1.2: The twist number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $tn(G) \le 12611$.

Combining this with a result by Davies [25] relating the stack number to the twist number of a graph we get the following bound for the stack number of upward planar 2-trees.

Corollary 1.3: The stack number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $sn(G) \le 564728$.

The second contribution of this thesis is the definition of *planar quasi-k-trees* as a generalization of *planar quasi-4-trees*. Furthermore, we show two main results for planar quasi-*k*-trees. First, we show that planar quasi-*k*-trees are a subset of planar graphs with treewidth at most *k*.

Theorem 1.4: Let G be a planar quasi-k-tree. Then, it holds that $tw(G) \le k$.

The second - and arguably much more important - result is that every planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree.

Theorem 1.5: For every planar graph G with treewidth $k \ge 4$, there exists a planar quasi-ktree H with $G \subseteq H$ and |V(G)| = |V(H)|. Furthermore, if k = 4, there exists such a planar quasi-k-tree H that is nice.

This answers a conjecture by Förster [50] in the positive.

Finally, we give an upper bound for the stack number on a subclass of upward planar quasi-4-trees.

Theorem 1.6: Let G be a $\{(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-\}$ -free nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree. Then, it holds that $tn(G) \leq 5d(G)$, with d(G) being the depth of G.

For the definitions of *nice* planar quasi-*k*-trees and $\{(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-\}$ -free planar quasi-4-trees, refer to Chapter 4 and Chapter 5, respectively.

2 Stack Number, Twist Number, Treewidth and (Upward) Planarity

We start this section by introducing the notation that is used throughout this thesis. Then, we formally define the *stack number* and the *twist number* and introduce several existing results that we use in our proofs. Finally, we formally define *treewidth* and *k*-trees and motivate their relevance in the context of planar graphs.

2.1 Notation

Let *G* be a graph. We refer to the set of vertices of *G* as V(G) and to the set of edges of *G* as E(G). If *G* is an undirected graph and $\{u, v\} \in E(G)$ is an edge of *G*, we refer to it as uv or vu. In a directed graph we refer to an edge from a vertex $u \in V(G)$ to a vertex $v \in V(G)$ as uv.

We denote *directed acyclic graphs* as *DAGs*. Let *G* be a planar graph with a fixed planar embedding and *f* be a face of *G*. We refer to the set of vertices incident to *f* as V(f) and to the graph induced by all vertices incident to *f* as G[f] := G[V(f)]. Let *C* be a cycle in *G*. We refer to the graph induced by all vertices in *C* or in the interior of *C* as $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$.

Let σ be an ordering of V(G). We say a vertex v is to the left of a vertex u if and only if $v <_{\sigma} u$. Similarly, we say a vertex v is to the right of a vertex u if and only if $u <_{\sigma} v$.

2.2 Stack Number and Twist Number

We start by giving a formal definition of stack layouts.

Definition 2.1: Let G be a graph, σ an ordering of V(G) and E_1, \ldots, E_k a partition of the edges in G such that there are no two distinct edges $u_1v_1, u_2v_2 \in E_i$ with $1 \leq i \leq k$ and $u_1 <_{\sigma} u_2 <_{\sigma} v_1 <_{\sigma} v_2$. Then, $(\sigma, E_1, \ldots, E_k)$ is a k-stack layout of G.

Definition 2.2: Let G be a graph and σ be an ordering of V(G). Then, the stack number $\operatorname{sn}_{\sigma}(G)$ of G in regard to σ is the smallest $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there exists a k-stack layout of G with vertex ordering σ .

Definition 2.3: Let G be a graph. Then, the stack number sn(G) of G is the minimum over all $sn_{\sigma}(G)$ with σ being an ordering of V(G).

The name *stack layout* hails from the fact that each part E_1, \ldots, E_k of E(G) behaves like a stack in the sense that we can go along the ordering of V(G) and push each edge onto its corresponding stack once we find its first endpoint and pop it from its respective stack once we find its second endpoint. Similarly, the parts E_1, \ldots, E_k in a *queue layout* behave like queues.

For both stack and queue layouts, there are certain patterns that force a large number of stacks and queues, respectively. For stack layouts, these are so-called *k*-*twists*.



Figure 2.1: On the left is a 4-twist and on the right is a 4-rainbow.



Figure 2.2: A vertex ordering with twist number 2 and stack number 3.

Definition 2.4: Let G be a graph with an ordering σ of V(G). A k-twist in σ is a set of k edges u_1v_1, \ldots, u_kv_k such that $u_1 <_{\sigma} \cdots <_{\sigma} u_k <_{\sigma} v_1 <_{\sigma} \cdots <_{\sigma} v_k$.

An example of a k-twist is depicted in Figure 2.1. In a k-twist, all k edges cross pairwise each other. We can define the *twist number* tn(G) of G as follows:

Definition 2.5: Let G be a graph and σ be an ordering of V(G). The twist number $\operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G)$ in regard to σ is the maximum $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there is a k-twist in σ . The twist number $\operatorname{tn}(G)$ is the minimum over all $\operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G)$.

As every edge in a k-twist needs to be on a separate stack, we immediatly get the following lemma.

Lemma 2.6: For all graphs G, it holds that $tn(G) \le sn(G)$.

Analogously to *k*-twists, a *k*-rainbow is a set of *k* edges u_1v_1, \ldots, u_kv_k such that $u_1 < \cdots < u_k < v_k \cdots < v_1$ (see Figure 2.1). This means all *k* edges in a *k*-rainbow pairwise nest. Thus, any queue layout for a topological ordering of V(G) that contains a *k*-rainbow needs at least *k* queues (one for each edge u_iv_i with $1 \le i \le k$). Heath and Rosenberg [62] show that for a fixed ordering < of V(G), the queue number of *G* for < is the same as the size of the largest rainbow in <. Thus, the queue number of a graph is equal to the size, i. e. the number of edges, of the smallest rainbow in any topological vertex ordering of *G*.

While it is clear that a large twist implies a large stack number, we do not have an equality akin to the result of Heath and Rosenberg for stacks and twists (for an example of a vertex ordering that needs more stacks than the size of its largest twist refer to Figure 2.2). However, there is an upper bound on the stack number of a graph that is only dependent on the twist number of the graph. To see this, we take a slightly different view on stack layouts. For that, let *G* be a graph with a topological ordering σ of V(G). We embed *G* by placing all vertices on a circle in the ordering σ and draw the edges as straight lines. This means all edges are chords of the same circle. For an example, refer to Figure 2.3.

Now, we look at the *intersection graph* of these chords. That is the graph that has a vertex for each chord and two vertices are adjacent if and only if their corresponding chords cross. Such a graph is called a *circle graph*. For an example, see Figures 2.3b and 2.3c. We refer to the corresponding circle graph of *G* with ordering σ as G_C^{σ} . Observe that two chords cross if and only if their endpoints are alternating on the circle and thus in σ . This means that their corresponding vertices are adjacent if and only if the two edges cross in σ . Thus, a proper coloring of the circle graph G_C^{σ} is equivalent to a stack layout of *G* (each color class corresponds to a stack). Furthermore, a *k*-twist in σ results in a *k*-clique in G_C^{σ} , as all edges



Figure 2.3: A graph *G* with an ordering $\sigma := (v_1, \ldots, v_6)$ and the resulting circle graph G_C^{σ} .



Figure 2.4: A 4-twist that is embedded on a circle. All edges of the twist cross each other pairwise.

in the twist cross each other pairwise as depicted in Figure 2.4. Thus, for the clique number $\omega(G)$ of G_C^{σ} we get that $\omega(G_C^{\sigma}) = \operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G)$. For circle graphs *G*, Davies [25] shows that the chromatic number $\chi(G)$ of *G* is bounded by a function of the clique number $\omega(G)$. Namely, Davies shows the following theorem:

Theorem 2.7 (Davies, 2022 [25]): For all circle graphs G, it holds that

 $\chi(G) \le 2\omega(G)\log_2(\omega(G)) + 2\omega(G)\log_2(\log_2(\omega(G))) + 10\omega(G),$

with $\chi(G)$ being the chromatic number of G and $\omega(G)$ being the clique number of G.

With the observations from before relating the clique number and the chromatic number to the twist number and the stack number, this immediately implies the following corollary:

Corollary 2.8: (Davies, 2022 [25]): For all graphs G, it holds that

 $sn(G) \le 2 tn(G) \log_2(tn(G)) + 2 tn(G) \log_2(\log_2(tn(G))) + 10 tn(G).$

Davies also shows that this bound is asymptotically best possible. While this result is not as strong as the result of Heath and Rosenberg relating the size of the largest rainbow with the queue number of a graph, it is still immensely useful, as bounds on the twist number of a graph are sufficient to find bounds on the stack number. In particular, it means that any constant upper bound on the twist number implies a constant upper bound on the stack number.

2.3 Planar Graphs With Bounded Treewidth

Treewidth is a graph parameter that was first introduced by Robertson and Seymour [81] in 1986. Roughly speaking, it measures how close a graph is to a tree. Formally, we define treewidth as follows:

Let *G* be a graph. A *tree decomposition* of *G* is a pair (\mathcal{X}, T) , where $\mathcal{X} = \{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ is a family of subsets of V(G) called bags and *T* is a tree with $V(T) = \mathcal{X}$. Furthermore, the following conditions must be satisfied:

- (i) $V(G) = \bigcup_{i=1}^{n} X_i$,
- (ii) For every edge $uv \in E(G)$, there is a bag X_i with $u \in X_i$ and $v \in X_i$ and
- (iii) For $X_i, X_j, X_k \in \mathcal{X}$, if X_j is on the path from X_i to X_k in T, then $X_i \cap X_k \subseteq X_j$.

In particular, (iii) implies that for every vertex $v \in V(G)$ the bags in \mathcal{X} that contain v induce a tree in T. The width of a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) is max{ $|X_i| | X_i \in \mathcal{X}$ } – 1. The *treewidth* of G is the minimum width of all of its possible tree decompositions.

The edge maximal graphs of treewidth k are called k-trees. In particular, 1-trees are trees. However, this is not an especially intuitive definition. Instead, we can also define k-trees as follows:

Definition 2.9: A graph G is a k-tree if and only if it is either the complete graph on k + 1 vertices K_{k+1} or if G can be constructed by adding a vertex v to a k-tree H such that v is incident to (and only to) a clique in H of size k.

Before we consider the planar analogue to *k*-trees, we motivate why planar graphs of bounded treewidth are interesting. In 2020, Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood [39] introduced the concept of *product structure*. Product structure gives a novel view on various graph classes including the class of all planar graphs. A graph class \mathcal{G} admits product structure if there exists a constant $c \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for every graph $G \in \mathcal{G}$, there exists a graph H with treewidth at most c such that $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P$ for some path P. If such a constant cexists, it is called the *row treewidth* of \mathcal{G} .

The symbol \boxtimes denotes the *strong product* of graphs. It is the combination of the Cartesian product and the tensor product of graphs. For two graphs *G* and *H*, we have $V(G \boxtimes H) := G \times H$. Furthermore, for two vertices $(u, v), (u'v') \in V(G \boxtimes V)$, there is an edge $(u, v)(u'v') \in E(G \boxtimes H)$ if and only if one of the following properties is fulfilled:

- u = v and $u'v' \in E(H)$
- u' = v' and $uv \in E(G)$
- $uv \in E(G)$ and $u'v' \in E(H)$

Since its introduction, product structure was shown to exist for a variety of graph classes. In particular the following theorems were shown for planar graphs:

Theorem 2.10 (Ueckerdt, Wood, and Yi, 2022 [84]): For every planar graph G, there exists a planar graph H with treewidth at most 6 such that $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P$ for some path P.

Theorem 2.11 (Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood, 2020 [39]): For every planar graph G, there exists a planar graph H with treewidth at most 4 such that $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P \boxtimes K_2$ for some path P.

Theorem 2.12 (Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood, 2020 [39]): For every planar graph G, there exists a planar graph H with treewidth at most 3 such that $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P \boxtimes K_3$ for some path P.

These theorems mean that it is of high interest to have a good understanding of planar graphs of treewidth 3, 4, and 6, as an improved understanding of these graphs might translate to an improved understanding of all planar graphs. Similar results to Theorems 2.10 to 2.12 exist for various other graph classes. This includes graphs with bounded Euler genus g, apex-minor-free graphs [39, 84], k-planar graphs, k-nearest-neighbor graphs, (g, k)-planar graphs, d-map graphs, (g, d)-map graphs [41], h-framed graphs [8], (g, δ) -string graphs [30, 41], k-th powers of planar graphs with bounded maximum degree [30, 63], fan-planar graphs, k-fan-bundle graphs [63], and K_w -free intersection graphs of unit disks in \mathbb{R}^2 [46].

Since its introduction, product structure has been used to improve the state of the art on several graph parameters. We highlight three of those parameters and show how bounds on planar graphs with bounded treewidth can improve the state of the art.

Product structure and queue layouts. Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood [39] use product structure to show a bound of 49 on the queue number of planar graphs. In particular, they prove the following lemma:

Lemma 2.13 (Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood, 2020 [39]): Let *G* be a graph with $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P \boxtimes K_l$ with *P* being any path. Then, for the queue number of *G*, it holds that $qn(G) \leq 3l qn(H) + \lfloor \frac{3}{2}l \rfloor$.

Using the three ways to describe planar graphs shown in Theorems 2.10 to 2.12, we get the following inequalities with c_k being a bound on the queue number of all planar graphs of treewidth k and G being a planar graph.

$$qn(G) \le 3c_6 \qquad qn(G) \le 6c_4 + 3 \qquad qn(G) \le 9c_3 + 4$$

As the best current upper bound on the queue number of planar graphs is 42 due to Bekos, Gronemann, and Raftopoulou [5], proving that $c_6 \leq 13$, $c_4 \leq 6$, or $c_3 \leq 4$ would improve the state of the art. Both the proof by Dujmović, Joret, Micek, Morin, Ueckerdt, and Wood and the proof by Bekos, Gronemann, and Raftopoulou leverage the good understanding of planar graphs with treewidth 3. Thus, it can be expected that a better understanding of planar graphs with treewidth 4 and 6 may proof equally useful. For planar graphs of treewidth at most 3, the best currently known upper bound is 5 due to Alam, Bekos, Gronemann, Kaufmann, and Pupyrev [1], who also give a lower bound of 4. Thus, we know that $4 \leq c_3 \leq 5$. For treewidth 4, the best upper bound is due to Wiechert [85] who shows that every graph of treewidth at most k has queue number at most $2^k - 1$. Thus, we have that $c_4 \leq 15$. For c_6 , the best upper bound is the upper bound on general planar graphs. Thus, we have $c_6 \leq 42$. To the best of our knowledge, the best known lower bound for c_4 and c_6 is the same as for c_3 .

Product structure and non-repetitive colorings. A coloring of a graph *G* is *non-repetitive* if for every path *P* in *G*, the first half of *P* is colored differently than the second half of *P*. Note that this implies that the coloring has to be proper as edges are paths of length 2 and thus adjacent vertices must be colored differently. The *non-repetitive chromatic number* $\pi(G)$ of *G* is the smallest integer *k* such that *G* has a non-repetitive coloring using *k* colors. Using product structure, Dujmović, Esperet, Joret, Walczak, and Wood [34] show that for planar graphs *G*, it holds that $\pi(G) \leq 768$. This answers the question whether planar graphs have bounded non-repetitive chromatic number, which was first asked by Alon, Grytczuk, Hałuszczak, and Riordan [2] in 2002, introducing this graph parameter for the first time. The proof by Dujmović, Esperet, Joret, Walczak, and Wood uses the following lemma that they proved:

Lemma 2.14 (Dujmović, Esperet, Joret, Walczak, and Wood, 2020 [34]): Let *G* be a graph with $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P \boxtimes K_l$, with *P* being any path. Then, it holds that $\pi(G) \leq 4l\pi(H)$.

Furthermore, Dujmović, Esperet, Joret, Walczak, and Wood show that every graph G with treewidth at most k has non-repetitive chromatic number at most 4^k . These two results combined yield their bound of 768 for all planar graphs. Once again, we can use the three ways of describing planar graphs with product structure to obtain the following inequalities, with c_k being a bound on the non-repetitive chromatic number of all planar graphs of treewidth k and G being a planar graph.

$$\pi(G) \le 4c_6 \qquad \pi(G) \le 8c_4 \qquad \pi(G) \le 12c_3$$

Thus, showing that $c_6 < 192$, $c_4 < 96$, or $c_3 < 64$ would improve the state of the art for general planar graphs. The best currently known lower bound for general planar graphs is 11 due to Pascal Ochem (see [38] Appendix A). For a survey of the results on non-repetitive colorings, refer to this survey by Wood [88] from 2021.

Product structure and *p*-centered colorings. A coloring of a graph *G* is *p*-centered if the vertices of every connected subgraph *H* of *G* are colored with more than *p* different colors or there is a color that appears exactly once in *H*. The *p*-centered chromatic number $\chi_p(G)$ of *G* is the minimum $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there is a *p*-centered coloring of *G* that uses *k* colors. Note that every *p*-centered coloring is proper, as connected subgraphs of size 2 ensure that adjacent vertices have distinct colors. The *p*-centered chromatic number was first introduced by Nešetřil and Ossona de Mendez [73] in 2006. In 2021, Dębski, Micek, Schröder, and Felsner used product structure to show that planar graphs have *p*-centered chromatic number in $\mathcal{O}(p^3 \log p)$. In particular, they show the following lemma:

Lemma 2.15 (Dębski, Micek, Schröder, and Felsner, 2021 [26]): Let *G* be a graph with $G \subseteq H \boxtimes P \boxtimes K_l$, with *P* being any path. Then, it holds that $\chi_p(G) \leq (p+1)l\chi_p(H)$.

Furthermore, they show that planar graphs with treewidth 3 have *p*-centered chromatic number in $\mathcal{O}(p^2 \log p)$ and that there are planar graphs with treewidth 3 with *p*-centered chromatic number in $\Omega(p^2 \log p)$. Combining this with Lemma 2.15 yields their bound on general planar graphs. Their lower bound on the *p*-centered chromatic number of planar graphs with treewidth 3 is also the best lower bound on general planar graphs. While Lemma 2.15 cannot be used to improve the upper bound asymptotically, it can potentially be used to improve the constants by proving bounds on planar graphs with treewidth 3, 4, or 6.

Product structure is used in proofs for various other graph parameters. Although there are no results as straight-forward as Lemmas 2.13 to 2.15 for those parameters, a better understanding of planar graphs with bounded treewidth might still prove useful to improve on these results. Graph parameters where product structure is used include adjacency labeling schemes [15, 33, 49], clustered colorings [21, 35, 36], vertex rankings [17], reduced bandwidth [16], comparable box dimension [45], neighborhood complexity [64], twin-width [8, 67], and odd-coloring numbers [40].

Planar quasi-*k***-trees** Now that we have motivated why planar graphs with bounded treewidth are of interest, we look at how we can characterize these graphs. This is easy for non-planar graphs, as the edge maximal graphs with treewidth *k* are exactly *k*-trees. For planar graphs, this is only the case for $k \le 2$. For $k \le 2$, this holds because the class of all



Figure 2.5: A 3-tree that contains $K_{3,3}$ as a subgraph.

graphs with treewidth 2 is the same as the class of all *planar* graphs with treewidth 2. It can be seen that all graphs of treewidth at most 2 are planar by observing that both $K_{3,3}$ and K_5 have treewidth larger than 2 and thus are not a minor of any graph with treewidth at most 2.

For k = 3, this does not hold, as there are 3-trees that contain $K_{3,3}$ as a subgraph and thus are not planar (for an example see Figure 2.5). However, El-Mallah and Colbourn [71] show that all planar graphs with treewidth at most 3 are a subgraph of a planar 3-tree. Furthermore, Kratochvíl and Vaner [68] show that every planar embedding of a graph with treewidth at most 3 can be extended to a planar embedding of a planar 3-tree. This means we can add edges to any planar embedding of a graph with treewidth at most 3 to obtain a planar embedding of a planar 3-tree.

It is well known that planar 3-trees can be constructed in the following way:

Lemma 2.16 (Biedl and Ruiz Velázquez, 2013 [12]): A graph G is a planar 3-tree if and only if G is a triangle or if G can be constructed by placing a vertex v in an inner face f of a planar 3-tree H with a fixed planar embedding, with v being incident exactly to the vertices incident to f in H.

An example for such a construction is depicted in Figure 2.6. Together with the result of El-Mallah and Colbourn, this gives us a nice characterization of planar graphs with treewidth at most 3 as well as a nice way to construct (a supergraph of) planar graphs with treewidth at most 3.

For k > 3, however, we do not have such a characterization of planar graphs with treewidth at most k. In particular, for all k > 3, there are planar graphs with treewidth at most k that are not a subgraph of a planar k-tree. To see this, consider a planar k-tree with $k \ge 4$. For $k \ge 4$, the base case of the construction of a k-tree contains the complete graph K_5 on five vertices as a subgraph. Thus, there is no planar k-tree for $k \ge 4$.

Recently, Förster [50] introduced the concept of planar quasi-4-trees.

Definition 2.17: (Förster, 2024 [50]): A graph G is a planar quasi-4-tree if G is C_3 or C_4 or it can be constructed using one of the following rules:

- (i) G is obtained from a planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges vt_1 and vt_2 and possibly vt_3 , where (t_1, t_2, t_3) is a triangular face of G'.
- (ii) G is obtained from a planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges vq_1 and vq_3 and possibly vq_2 and/or vq_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G'.



Figure 2.6: Construction of a planar 3-tree from left to right. The face where the next vertex is placed in is highlighted in blue.



Figure 2.7: Construction of a planar quasi-4-tree from left to right. The face where the next vertex is placed in is highlighted in blue.

Planar quasi-4-trees provide a way of constructing some planar graphs with treewidth 4 that is similar to the construction of planar 3-trees described in Lemma 2.16 (compare Figure 2.6 to Figure 2.7). While Förster shows that all planar quasi-4-trees have treewidth at most 4, he does not show that every edge-maximal planar graph with treewidth 4 is a planar quasi-4-tree. Instead, Förster formulates the following conjecture:

Conjecture 2.18 (Förster, 2024 [50]): Let G be a planar graph of treewidth 4. Then, G is a subgraph of a planar quasi-4-tree.



Figure 2.8: A Venn diagram relating planar graphs with treewidth at most 2, 3, and 4, planar 2-trees, planar 3-trees, and planar quasi-4-trees. The hatched area is empty if and only if Conjecture 2.18 holds, which we prove in Chapter 4.

To the best of our knowledge, there is no such construction for k > 4 previous to this thesis. We generalize this construction for k > 4 in Chapter 4. We conclude this section with a Venn diagram showing the relation between planar graphs with treewidth 2, 3, and 4, planar 2-trees, planar 3-trees, and planar quasi-4-trees in Figure 2.8.

2.4 Upward Planarity and Treewidth

A directed graph is *upward planar* if and only if it has a planar embedding such that every edge is *y*-monotone. Di Battista and Tamassia [27] show that a graph has such a drawing if and only if it has such a drawing such that every edge is additionally a straight line.

Similarly to planar *k*-trees, not every upward planar *k*-tree is a subgraph of an upward planar k + 1-tree. However, unlike the result of El-Mallah and Colbourn [71] that every planar graph with treewidth at most 3 is a subgraph of a planar 3-tree, there are upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 that are not a subgraph of an upward planar 3-tree. An example for this is the graph depicted in Figure 2.9. For that graph, Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [66] show that it is not a subgraph of an upward planar 3-tree. Similarly, there are upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 that are not a subgraph of an upward planar 2-tree. An example for this is the graph depicted in Figure 2.10. It can be seen that the embedding depicted in Figure 2.10 is the only combinatorial embedding that is upward. As there are no induced cycles of length greater than 3 in a 2-tree, we need to add one of the edges *ca* or *db*. It is not possible to do this while keeping the embedding upward planar. Thus, the graph depicted in Figure 2.10 is not a subgraph of an upward planar 2-tree. Note that with the same argument, the graph is not even a subgraph of an upward planar 3-tree.



Figure 2.9: An upward planar 2-tree that is not a subgraph of any upward planar 3-tree.



Figure 2.10: An upward planar graph with treewidth 2 that is not a sub-graph of an upward planar 2-tree.

This means that a bound on the stack number of upward planar 3-trees is not a bound on all planar graphs with treewidth at most 3. Similarly, a bound on the stack number of upward planar 2-trees is not a bound on all planar graphs with treewidth at most 2. We conclude this section with a Venn diagram showing the relation between upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 and 3, upward planar 2-trees and upward planar 3-trees in Figure 2.11. We revisit this in Chapter 5, where we define upward planar quasi-4-trees.



Figure 2.11: A Venn diagram relating upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 and 3, upward planar 2-trees, and upward planar 3-trees.

3 Upward Planar 2-Trees

In this chapter, we give a constant upper bound for the twist number of upward planar 2-trees. We do this by using a proof similar to the proof showing that upward planar 3-trees have constant twist number by Frati, Fulek, and Ruiz-Vargas [52].

We start by defining a method of *inserting* a vertex ordering σ' into another vertex ordering σ if certain conditions are met. Then, we show several properties of orderings that result from such an insertion and use these properties to construct a vertex ordering of any given upward planar 2-tree in Lemma 3.6. Finally, we show in Theorem 1.1 that this ordering only contains twists of constant size. This bound depends only on the twist number of outerplanar DAGs. Thus, improvements of the twist number of outerplanar DAGs directly improve our result for the twist number of upward planar 2-trees. We give a concrete upper bound for the twist number and stack number of upward planar 2-trees in Corollaries 1.2 and 1.3 by using the best known upper bound for the twist number of outerplanar DAGs by Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [66] and a result relating the stack number of a graph to the twist number of a graph by Davies [25].

Definition 3.1: Let G and G' be two graphs with $V(G) \cap V(G') = \{v_b, v_m, v_t\}$ and σ and σ' be vertex orderings of G and G' respectively such that $\sigma = (v_1, \ldots, v_i = v_m, \ldots, v_n)$ with $v_b <_{\sigma} v_m <_{\sigma} v_t$ and $\sigma' = (v'_1 = v_b, \ldots, v'_j = v_m, \ldots, v'_k = v_t)$. Then, we define the vertex ordering $\sigma' \curvearrowright \sigma$ resulting from inserting σ' into σ as $\sigma' \curvearrowright \sigma \coloneqq (v_1, \ldots, v_{i-1}, v'_2, \ldots, v'_{k-1}, v_{i+1}, \ldots, v_n)$.

Intuitively, this means that we place all vertices of G' except v_b , v_t in a *block* around v_m and the ordering $\sigma' \sim \sigma$ looks like depicted in Figure 3.1. This will prove useful in later proofs, as this implies that edges in $G - \{v_b, v_m, v_t\}$ do not cross edges in $G' - \{v_b, v_m, v_t\}$.

Note that for $u, v \in V(G)$ we have $u <_{\sigma} v$ if and only if $u <_{\sigma \sim \sigma'} v$. Similarly, for $u, v \in V(G')$ we have $u <_{\sigma'} v$ if and only if $u <_{\sigma \sim \sigma'} v$. Thus, we can make the following observation that we use in the proof of Lemma 3.6.

Observation 3.2: Let $G \cup G'$ be a graph with $V(G) \cap V(G') = \{v_b, v_m, v_t\}$ and σ and σ' be topological vertex orderings of G and G', respectively, such that $\sigma = (v_1, \ldots, v_i = v_m, \ldots, v_n)$ with $v_b <_{\sigma} v_m <_{\sigma} v_t$ and $\sigma' = (v'_1 = v_b, \ldots, v'_j = v_m, \ldots, v'_k = v_t)$. Then, $\sigma' \curvearrowright \sigma$ is a topological vertex ordering of $G \cup G'$. Furthermore, let $M \subseteq E(G)$ be a twist in $G \cup G'$ with respect to $\sigma' \curvearrowright \sigma$. Then, M is a twist in G with respect to σ .

Now, we define a *separation tree T* of an upward planar 2-tree *G*. An example for this can be seen in Figure 3.2.

Definition 3.3: Let G = (V, E) be an upward planar 2-tree with a fixed upward planar embedding. We define the separation tree $T = (V_T, E_T)$ of G as follows:



Figure 3.1: The ordering $\sigma' \curvearrowright \sigma$ as defined in Definition 3.1. The vertices of *G* are ordered according to σ , while the vertices of *G'* are ordered according to σ' .



Figure 3.2: On the left an upward planar 2-tree *G* with outer face f_o . On the right the separation tree *T* of *G*. The root of *T* is (G, f_o) . It has children (G_1, f_1) (blue) and (G_2, f_2) (green) in *T*. G_1 and G_2 have the bottom, the middle, and the top vertex v_b^i, v_m^i , and v_t^i , respectively.

- The vertices V_T of T are tuples of a subgraph G' of G together with a face f of G'.
- The root of T is (G, f_o) , with f_o being the outer face of G.
- Let $(G' \subseteq G, f)$ be a vertex of T and $t = (v_b, v_m, v_t)$ be a triangle in G' that is different from f with v_b, v_m , and v_t incident to f and with at least one vertex in its interior. Without loss of generality, let $v_b < v_m < v_t$ in any topological ordering of G and let $G'' = \operatorname{int}_{G'}(t)$. Note that G'' is bounded by the triangle t. As G'' is a 2-tree, it contains an inner face f'that is incident to v_b, v_m , and v_t . Then, (G'', f') is a child of (G', f) in T and we refer to v_b, v_m , and v_t as the bottom, the middle, and the top vertex of G'' and to the triangle t as the outer triangle of G''.

We use this separation tree in Lemma 3.6 to construct a vertex ordering by induction on the structure of it. For that, we need to bound the twist number of the leaves of the separation tree. We do this by showing that the subgraphs corresponding to the leaves of the separation tree are outerplanar.

Lemma 3.4: For every leaf(G, f) of T, G is an outerplanar graph.

Proof. As *G* is a 2-tree, every induced cycle in *G* is a triangle. Furthermore, by the definition of *T*, we know that *G* does not contain a triangle with a vertex in its interior. Otherwise, (G, f) would not be a leaf. Thus, *G* is outerplanar, as every vertex of *G* is incident to *f*. \Box

For every vertex (G, f) in T that is not the root, the outer face of G is bounded by a triangle. Thus, we can make the following observation that we use in the proof of Lemma 3.6.

Observation 3.5: For every vertex (G, f) in T that is not the root, the bottom vertex of G is a source and the top vertex of G is a sink.

In the following lemma, we construct a topological vertex ordering for a given upward planar 2-tree. For several of the properties in Lemma 3.6, we require vertices to be part of V(G' - G[f]) with (G', f') being a child of (G, f) in the separation tree T of G. Recall that a child G' of G is a graph induced by the vertices contained or in the interior of a fixed triangle

in *G* that is the outer triangle of *G*'. Thus, the graph G' - G[f] is the graph that is induced by all vertices in the interior of the outer triangle of *G*' without the vertices contained in the outer triangle. In particular, this means that the bottom, the middle, and the top vertex of *G*' are not part of G' - G[f].

Lemma 3.6: Let G_0 be an upward planar 2-tree with a fixed upward planar embedding and a separation tree T. Then, there exists a topological ordering σ of the vertices of G_0 with the following properties:

- (i) Let (G, f) be a vertex of T. Then, $\operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G[f]) \leq c + 2$ with $c \in \mathbb{N}$ being an upper bound on the twist number of the class of all outerplanar DAGs.
- (ii) Let (G, f) be a vertex of T and let (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T with respective middle vertices v_{m_1}, v_{m_2} . Then, there exist no edges $v_{m_1}u_1 \in E(G_1)$ and $v_{m_2}u_2 \in E(G_2)$ that cross in σ with $u_i \in V(G_i G[f])$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$.
- (iii) Let (G, f) be a vertex of T and let (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T with different bottom vertices v_{b_1}, v_{b_2} and different middle vertices v_{m_1}, v_{m_2} , respectively. Furthermore, let $v_{b_1}u_1 \in E(G_1)$ and $v_{b_2}u_2 \in E(G_2)$ with $u_i \in V(G_i - G[f])$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ that cross in σ . Then, the edges $v_{b_1}v_{m_1}$ and $v_{b_2}v_{m_2}$ cross in σ as well.
- (iv) Let (G, f) be a vertex of T and (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T. Then, there exist no edges u_1v_1 and u_2v_2 that cross in σ with $u_i, v_i \in V(G_i G[f])$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$.

Proof. We show the slightly stronger statement that there exists an ordering σ fulfilling Properties (i) to (iv) as well as the following property by induction on the separation tree of *G* as defined in Definition 3.3.

(v) Let (G, f) be a vertex of T with v_b and v_t being the bottom vertex and the top vertex of G. Then, for all vertices $u \in V(G)$, it holds that $v_b \leq_{\sigma} u \leq_{\sigma} v_t$.

Note that this is not the case for every topological ordering of an upward planar 2-tree, as upward planar 2-trees may have multiple sources and sinks. For the base case, let (G, f) be a leaf in T and v_b , v_m , and v_t be the bottom, the middle, and the top vertex of G. As G is a leaf, we know by Lemma 3.4 that G is outerplanar. Therefore, there exists a topological ordering

$$(v_1,\ldots,v_i=v_b,\ldots,v_j=v_m,\ldots,v_k=v_t,\ldots,v_n)$$

of V(G) such that $tn_{\sigma}(G)$ is at most *c*. Furthermore, as v_b is a global source in *G* and v_t is a global sink in *G* by Observation 3.5, the ordering

$$(v_i = v_b, v_1, \dots, v_{i-1}, v_{i+1}, \dots, v_{j-1}, v_m, \dots, v_{k-1}, v_{k+1}, \dots, v_n, v_k = v_t)$$

is a topological ordering of V(G) that satisfies Property (v). Furthermore, this topological ordering has twist number at most c + 2, as we only changed the position of the two vertices v_b and v_t . Thus, Property (i) holds for this ordering. As (G, f) is a leaf, Properties (ii) to (iv) hold trivially.

Now, let (G, f) be an inner vertex of T with children $(G_1, f_1), \ldots, (G_k, f_k)$ in T. By induction, there exist topological vertex orderings $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k$ of G_1, \ldots, G_k , respectively, that fulfill Properties (i) to (v). Clearly, the graph G[f] is outerplanar, as all vertices are incident to f. If $G \neq G_0$, let v_b be the bottom vertex of G and v_t the top vertex of G. If $G = G_0$, we choose any



Figure 3.3: An upward planar 2-tree *G*. Together with the face *f* (light blue), the graph *G* is a node in a separation tree T. It has children (G_1, f_1) (light green), (G_2, f_2) (dark blue), and (G_3, f_3) (red) in *T*. G_1 and G_3 have the middle vertex *b* and G_2 has the middle vertex *a*. Below the graph is the ordering resulting from inserting orderings of G_1, G_2 , and G_3 into an ordering of G[f].

source of $G_0[f]$ as the bottom vertex and any sink of $G_0[f]$ as the top vertex. Then, similar to the base case, there exists a vertex ordering $\sigma_f = (v_1 = v_b, \ldots, v_n = v_t)$ of G[f] with v_b and v_t being the bottom vertex and the top vertex of G and with $\operatorname{tn}_{\sigma_f}(G[f]) \leq c + 2$. Now, we construct vertex orderings $\sigma'_1 \ldots, \sigma'_k$ with σ'_i being a vertex ordering of $G[f] \cup \bigcup_{j=1}^i G_j$ as follows: we set $\sigma'_1 \coloneqq \sigma_1 \frown \sigma_f$ and $\sigma'_i \coloneqq \sigma_i \frown \sigma'_{i-1}$ for all $2 \leq i \leq k$. For an example of this, refer to Figure 3.3. Note that we can insert the orderings according to Definition 3.1, as Property (v) ensures that the orderings $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_k$ have the required form. We claim that $\sigma \coloneqq \sigma'_k$ fulfills Properties (i) to (v). Property (v) follows directly from the definition of \frown and Property (i) follows directly from the twist number of σ_f and Observation 3.2. Thus, it remains to show that Properties (ii) to (iv) hold.



Figure 3.4: The situation described in Property (ii). The vertices v_{m_1} and v_{m_2} are the respective middle vertices of G_1 and G_2 . The vertices u_1 and u_2 are in $V(G_1 - G[f])$ and $V(G_2 - G[f])$, respectively.

Property (ii). Let (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T with the respective middle vertices v_{m_1} and v_{m_2} . Let $v_{m_1}u_1 \in E(G_1)$ and $v_{m_2}u_2 \in E(G_2)$ be edges with $u_i \in V(G_i - G[f])$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. We show that $v_{m_1}u_1$ and $v_{m_2}u_2$ do not cross in σ . Clearly, this holds if $v_{m_1} = v_{m_2}$. Therefore, assume that $v_{m_1} \neq v_{m_2}$. Then, by the definition of \frown , we know that $v_{m_1} <_{\sigma} v_{m_2}$ if and only if $u_1 <_{\sigma} u_2$ and $u_1 <_{\sigma} v_{m_2}$. Thus, $v_{m_1}u_1$ and $v_{m_2}u_2$ do not cross and Property (ii) holds.



Figure 3.5: The situation described in Property (iii). The vertices v_{m_1} and v_{m_2} are the respective middle vertices of G_1 and G_2 , v_{b_1} and v_{b_2} are the respective bottom vertices of G_1 and G_2 . The vertices u_1 and u_2 are in $V(G_1 - G[f])$ and $V(G_2 - G[f])$, respectively.

Property (iii). Let (G, f) be a vertex of T and (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T with different bottom vertices v_{b_1} and v_{b_2} and different middle vertices $v_{m_1} v_{m_2}$, respectively. Furthermore, let $v_{b_1}u_1 \in E(G_1)$ and $v_{b_2}u_2 \in E(G_2)$ with $u_i \in V(G_i - G[f])$ for $i \in \{1, 2\}$ that cross in σ . We show that $v_{b_1}v_{m_1}$ and $v_{b_2}v_{m_2}$ cross in σ . For that, we assume without loss of generality that $v_{b_1} <_{\sigma} v_{b_2} <_{\sigma} u_1 <_{\sigma} u_2$. By the definition of the insertion operation \sim , we know that all vertices of G_i except its bottom vertex and its top vertex are placed in a block around its middle vertex v_{m_i} for $i \in \{1, 2\}$. As $v_{m_1} \neq v_{m_2}$, this directly implies that $v_{b_1} <_{\sigma} v_{b_2} <_{\sigma} v_{m_1} <_{\sigma} v_{m_2}$. Thus, $v_{b_1}v_{m_1}$ and $v_{b_2}v_{m_2}$ cross in σ and σ fulfills Property (iii).



Figure 3.6: The situation described in Property (iv). The vertices u_1 , v_1 and u_2 , v_2 are in $V(G_1 - G[f])$ and $V(G_2 - G[f])$, respectively.

Property (iv). Let (G_1, f_1) and (G_2, f_2) be two distinct children of (G, f) in T and u_1v_1 and u_2v_2 edges with $u_i, v_i \in V(G_i - G[f])$, respectively. Note that this is almost the same case as in Property (ii), with the only difference being that v_1 and v_2 are not the middle vertex of G_1 and G_2 , respectively. Assume, without loss of generality, that in the construction of σ , the vertex ordering of (G_1, f_1) was inserted before the vertex ordering of (G_2, f_2) . Thus, if G_1 and G_2 have the same middle vertex, then u_1v_1 and u_2v_2 either nest in σ or one is entirely to the

right of the other one. Therefore, assume that G_1 and G_2 have different middle vertices v_{m_1} and v_{m_2} and assume without loss of generality that $v_{m_1} <_{\sigma} v_{m_2}$. Then, by the definition of \sim , it holds that $u_1, v_1 <_{\sigma} u_2, v_2$. Thus, u_1v_1 and u_2v_2 do not cross in σ and σ fulfills Property (iv). This concludes the proof.

Now, we have all the tools we need to show that the twist number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant and prove Theorem 1.1. The proof of Theorem 1.1 is nearly identical to the proof by Frati, Fulek, and Ruiz-Vargas [52] for upward planar 3-trees.

Theorem 1.1: The twist number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $tn(G) \le 13(c+2) + 1$, with c being an upper bound on the twist number for the class of all outerplanar directed acyclic graphs.

Proof. Let G = (V, E) be an upward planar 2-tree with a fixed upward planar embedding with outer face f. Furthermore, let T be a separation tree of G with root (G, f) — as defined in Definition 3.3 — and let σ be a topological ordering of the vertices of G satisfying Properties (i) to (iv) of Lemma 3.6.

Now, let *M* be a maximal twist in *G* with respect to the ordering σ . We assume that *G* is minimal in the sense that there exists no child (G', f') of (G, f) in the separation tree *T* of *G* such that *G'* contains a twist of the same size as *M*. Otherwise, we argue using that child instead.

We partition the twist *M* into three disjoint sets of edges $M = M_0 \cup M_1 \cup M_2$ with $M_i = \{e \in M : |e \cap V(G[f])| = i\}$ for $i \in \{0, 1, 2\}$, i. e. M_i contains the edges in *M* with *i* endpoints on the outer face of *G*. Thus, $\operatorname{tn}(G) \leq |M_0| + |M_1| + |M_2|$. Furthermore, since $|M_2| \leq \operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G[f])$ and $\operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G[f]) \leq c + 2$ by Property (i) of the ordering σ , it suffices to show that $|M_0| + |M_1| \leq 12(c+2) + 1$.



Figure 3.7: An upward planar 2-tree *G*. Edges with two endpoints on the outer face are colored light blue, edges with one endpoint on the outer face are colored orange, and edges with no endpoint on the outer face are colored dark green. The set M_2 is a subset of the light blue edges, M_1 is a subset of the orange edges, and M_0 is a subset of the dark green edges.

We start by showing that $M_0 = \emptyset$, i. e. every edge in M has at least one endpoint on the outer face of G. First, note that every edge in M_0 is contained in some child of G in T. Furthermore, M_0 cannot contain edges from two distinct children $(G_1, f_1), (G_2, f_2)$ of (G, f) in the separation

tree *T*. This follows directly from Property (iv) of the ordering σ . Let (G', f') be the child of (G, f) in *T* that contains the edges in M_0 and let v_b, v_m and v_t be the bottom, the middle and the top vertex of G'. None of those three vertices are contained in edges in M_0 (otherwise, the edges would be in M_1 or in M_2). By the minimality of G, we know there exists an edge which is not contained in M_0 that has to cross all edges in M_0 . By the definition of σ , this edge must contain v_m . However, there can only be one such edge in M. Then, however, the edge $v_b v_m$ also crosses the edges in M_0 . Thus, $M_0 \cup \{v_b v_m\}$ is a twist with size equal to M. As $M_0 \cup \{v_b v_m\}$ is contained entirely in G', this contradicts the minimality of G. Thus, we get that $M_0 = \emptyset$.

It remains to show that $|M_1| \le 12(c+2) + 1$. By definition, every edge in M_1 is incident to either a middle, a bottom or a top vertex of a child of (G, f) in T. By Property (ii), there is at most one edge in M_1 that is incident to a middle vertex. As top vertices and bottom vertices are analogous to each other, it suffices to show that there are at most 6(c+2) edges in M_1 incident to bottom vertices. For that, let M_1^b be the edges in M_1 that are incident to bottom vertices. Furthermore, let E_b be the set containing the edge $v_b v_m$ for every edge $v_b u \in M_1^b$ with $v_b u$ being an edge of some child (G', f') of (G, f) in T and v_m being the middle vertex of G' (see Figure 3.8). As every vertex can occur at most once in M, it holds that $|M_1^b| = |E_b|$. Furthermore, as each vertex is the middle vertex of at most two distinct children of (G, f), there are at most two distinct edges uv_m and $u'v_m$ in $|E_b|$ for every middle vertex v_m . For every vertex v_m for which two of those edges exist, we delete one of them to obtain E'_h . Then, it holds that $|M_1^b| \leq 2 \cdot |E_h'|$. Furthermore, in the graph induced by E_h' , every vertex has degree at most two. This holds because for two distinct edges uv and u'v' in E'_h , we know that $v \neq v'$ (because of the deletions to obtain E'_b from E_b) and $u \neq u'$ (because every vertex may occur at most once in *M*). Therefore, there exists an independent subset $E''_b \subseteq E'_b$ with $|E'_b| \leq 3 \cdot |E''_b|$. As M_1^b is a twist, $E_b^{\prime\prime}$ must be a twist as well (this follows directly from Property (iii) of σ). As E_b'' is a subset of E(G[f]), we know that $|E_b''| \le \operatorname{tn}_{\sigma}(G[f]) \le c + 2$ by Property (i) of σ . Thus, we also know that $|M_1^b| = |E_b| \le 2 \cdot |E_b'| \le 6 \cdot |E_b''| \le 6(c+2)$ and we have that $|M_1| \le 12(c+2) + 1.$

As $M_0 = \emptyset$, $|M_1| \le 12(c+2) + 1$ and $|M_2| \le c+2$, we have that $tn(G) \le |M| = |M_0| + |M_1| + |M_2| \le 13(c+2) + 1$. This concludes the proof.



Figure 3.8: A graph containing an edge $v_b u \in M_1^b$ (red) and the edge $v_b v_m$ (blue) that is added to E_b instead.

The bound we just showed is dependent on the twist number of outerplanar DAGs. For the stack number of outerplanar DAGs, Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [66] give a constant upper bound in form of the following theorem. **Theorem 3.7** (Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt, 2023 [66]): The stack number of outerplanar DAGs is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every outerplanar DAG G, it holds that $sn(G) \le 24776$.

Our bound on the twist number of upward planar 2-trees depends on the twist number of outerplanar DAGs, not the stack number of outerplanar DAGs. In their proof, Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt use Lemma 2.6 by Davies [25] to get an upper bound on the stack number of monotone outerplanar DAGs by using the upper bound of 4 by Nöllenburg and Pupyrev [74] on the twist number of monotone outerplanar DAGs. Omitting this step yields the following result.

Theorem 3.8 (Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt, 2023 [66]): The twist number of outerplanar DAGs is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every outerplanar DAGG, it holds that $tn(G) \le 968$.

We immediately get the following corollary by using 968 as the constant c in Theorem 1.1.

Corollary 1.2: The twist number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $tn(G) \le 12611$.

Recall the following result by Davies.

Corollary 2.8: (Davies, 2022 [25]): For all graphs G, it holds that

 $sn(G) \le 2 tn(G) \log_2(tn(G)) + 2 tn(G) \log_2(\log_2(tn(G))) + 10 tn(G).$

Using Lemma 2.6 and Corollary 1.2, we immediately get the following corollary.

Corollary 1.3: The stack number of upward planar 2-trees is bounded by a constant. Moreover, for every upward planar 2-tree G, it holds that $sn(G) \le 564728$.

Note that this bound is most likely much larger than the best possible upper bound. The currently best known lower bound is 4 due to Nöllenburg and Pupyrev [74].

We conclude this chapter with an open question. We already discussed that there are upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 that are not a subgraph of an upward planar 2-tree in Section 2.4. Thus, the bound that we show for upward planar 2-trees is not sufficient to bound the stack number of general upward planar graphs with treewidth 2. This leads us to the following question.

Question 3.9: Is there a constant $c \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $sn(G) \leq c$ for all upward planar graphs *G* with treewidth 2?

4 Planar Quasi-k-Trees

In this chapter, we answer Conjecture 2.18 by Förster in the positive. Moreover, we generalize the concept of planar quasi-4-trees to planar quasi-k-trees and show that every planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. We start by giving a definition of planar quasi-k-trees that differs from Definition 2.17. For that, recall Definition 2.17.

Definition 2.17: (Förster, 2024 [50]): A graph G is a planar quasi-4-tree if G is C_3 or C_4 or it can be constructed using one of the following rules:

- (i) G is obtained from a planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges vt_1 and vt_2 and possibly vt_3 , where (t_1, t_2, t_3) is a triangular face of G'.
- (ii) G is obtained from a planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges vq_1 and vq_3 and possibly vq_2 and/or vq_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G'.

Unlike in Definition 2.17 it is not feasible to define planar quasi-k-trees by explicitly listing all possible ways of inserting a new vertex, as there are too many options for large k. Instead, we give the following slightly more abstract definition.

Definition 4.1: Let G be a graph and $\sigma := (v_1, ..., v_n)$ be a vertex ordering of G. If there exists a planar embedding of G and an integer $l \le k$ such that

- $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}]$ is a simple cycle that bounds the outer face of G,
- for every $l < i \le n$, every face in $G_i \coloneqq G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_i\}]$ is bounded by at most k vertices, and
- for every $l < i \le n$, it holds that $\deg_{G_i}(v_i) \ge 1$,

we call σ a k-construction sequence of G and G a planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, if $\deg_{G_i}(v_i) \ge 2$ for every $l < i \le n$, we call σ a nice k-construction sequence of G and G a nice planar quasi-k-tree. We refer to the planar embedding of G for that a (nice) k-construction sequence exists as a (nice) canonical embedding of G. We omit the k and refer to σ as a construction sequence of G if k is clear from the context.

Note that Definition 4.1 is not the same as Definition 2.17 for k = 4. The difference between the definitions is that Definition 4.1 allows to insert a vertex with degree 1, while Definition 2.17 only allows to insert vertices with degree at least 2. However, our notion of *nice* planar quasi-4-trees is equivalent to the notion of planar quasi-4-trees by Förster.

We start by showing that every planar quasi-k-tree has treewidth at most k. We do this by constructing a tree decomposition with width k for a given planar quasi-k-tree.

Lemma 4.2: Let G be a planar quasi-k-tree with a canonical planar embedding. Then, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of G with width at most k such that for every face f in G, there exists a distinct bag $X \in \mathcal{X}$ that contains exactly the vertices incident to f.

Proof. We show the statement by induction on the number $n \in \mathbb{N}$ of vertices in *G*. First, note that a planar quasi-*k*-tree contains at least three vertices. For n = 3, the graph *G* has one inner face. Then, the tree decomposition containing two bags that each contain all vertices fulfills the statement. This holds, as every face (one inner and one outer face) in *G* contains all vertices.

Now, let *G* be a planar quasi-*k*-tree with n > 3 vertices and let the claim hold for all graphs *G'* with less than *n* vertices. Furthermore, let $\sigma = (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ be a construction sequence of *G*. Then, $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{n-1}\}]$ is a planar quasi-*k*-tree with n - 1 vertices. Thus, by induction, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{n-1}\}]$ with width at most *k* such that for every face *f*, there exists a bag $X \in \mathcal{X}$ that contains exactly the vertices incident to *f*. Let *f* be the face in $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{n-1}\}]$ that v_n is placed in and let $X \in \mathcal{X}$ be the bag that contains exactly the vertices incident to *f* in $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{n-1}\}]$. Then, it holds that $|X| \leq k$ because *f* is a face of a canonical embedding of a planar quasi-*k*-tree and thus is incident to at most *k* vertices. If v_n has degree 1 in *G*, we can add v_n to *X*. As every face is incident to at most *k* vertices, the tree decomposition still has width at most *k*. Thus, the claim holds.

Assume therefore, that v_n has degree $d \ge 2$ in G. Then, f is partitioned into faces f_1, \ldots, f_d in G. For each f_i , we add a bag X_i that contains the vertices incident to f_i to the tree decomposition and add the edge XX_i to T. These bags contain at most k vertices, as every face in G is incident to at most k vertices by the definition of planar quasi-k-trees. Finally, we add v_n to the bag X. This ensures that every X_i is a subset of X and thus that we still have a valid tree decomposition. As X contained at most k vertices before, the width of the tree decomposition is at most k. As the only bag we changed is X, all other faces still have a corresponding bag. Thus, the claim holds for G. This concludes the proof.

Lemma 4.2 immediatly implies the following theorem.

Theorem 1.4: Let G be a planar quasi-k-tree. Then, it holds that $tw(G) \le k$.

Now that we have shown that planar quasi-k-trees are a subset of all planar graphs of treewidth at most k, the rest of this chapter is dedicated to showing that every planar graph of treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree.

We start by showing that under certain conditions planar graphs with at most k + 1 vertices are planar quasi-k-trees. In Lemma 4.6 we use this statement as the base case of an induction. We show two slight variations of this statement. First, we show it for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Then, we show a slightly stronger statement for k = 4 in Lemma 4.4.

Lemma 4.3: Let G be a connected planar graph with $|V(G)| \le k + 1$ that has a fixed planar embedding with no face of size k + 1 and whose outer face is bounded by a simple cycle. Then, G is a planar quasi-k-tree and the fixed embedding of G is a canonical embedding.

Proof. Let v_1, \ldots, v_{k+1} be some ordering of V(G) such that $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_i\}]$ is connected for all $i \leq k$ and v_1, \ldots, v_l are the vertices of the outer face of G for some $l \leq k$. Then, for all $i \leq k$, the graph $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_i\}]$ is a planar quasi-k-tree, as every face contains at most $|V(G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_i\}])| = i \leq k$ vertices and by the definition of the ordering v_1, \ldots, v_{k+1} , we have $\deg_{G_i}(v_i) \geq 1$. Furthermore, placing v_{k+1} does not create a face of size k + 1, as $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{k+1}\}] = G$ and G does not contain such a face by assumption. Thus, σ is a construction sequence of G and G is a planar quasi-k-tree.

Note that the requirement of $|V(G)| \le k + 1$ is indeed necessary, as the embedding of the graph *G* depicted in Figure 4.1 satisfies the requirements of Lemma 4.3 and is *not* a canonical embedding of a planar quasi-*k*-tree for k > 4. To see this, look at any vertex ordering σ of *G*



Figure 4.1: For k > 4, the depicted graph *G* is a connected planar graph with |V(G)| = k + 2. It has a planar embedding with no face of size k + 1. Its outer face is bounded by a simple cycle. The depicted embedding is *not* a canonical embedding of a planar quasi-*k*-tree.



Figure 4.2: All 2-connected planar quasi-4-trees with at most four vertices. Adding at least one leaf to any vertex yields all planar quasi-4-trees with at most five vertices that are not *nice* planar quasi-4-trees. This holds because minimum degree at least 2 is clearly a necessary condition to be a *nice* planar quasi-4-tree.

that starts with the vertices incident to the outer face of the depicted embedding. Note that it is necessary for σ to start with the vertices incident to the outer face to be a construction sequence that produces the depicted embedding as a canonical embedding. Let $v \in V(G)$ be the last vertex in σ . Then, in G - v, there is a face that is incident to all k + 1 vertices. Thus, σ is not a construction sequence of G and therefore the depicted embedding is not canonical.

Now, we prove a slightly stronger statement for planar quasi-4-trees. Namely, we show that planar graphs with at most five vertices are *nice* planar quasi-4-trees if the graph is additionally 2-connected. Note that this additional requirement is necessary, as depicted in Figure 4.2. In fact, the nice planar quasi-4-trees with at most five vertices are exactly the 2-connected planar quasi-4-trees with at most five vertices.

Lemma 4.4: Let G be a 2-connected planar graph with $|V(G)| = n \le 5$ and a fixed planar embedding that has no face of size 5 and whose outer face is bounded by a simple cycle with length l. Then, G is a nice planar quasi-4-tree and the fixed embedding of G is a nice canonical embedding.

Proof. As *G* has no face of size 5 or larger and *G* is bounded by a simple cycle, *G* is either bounded by C_3 or C_4 . We do a case distinction based on that.

G is bounded by C_4 : First, we show that the statement holds if *G* is bounded by $C_4 := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4)$. If |V(G)| = 4, the ordering $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4)$ clearly is a nice construction sequence of *G*. Thus, assume now that |V(G)| = 5. Then, we claim that $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5)$



Figure 4.3: The two options (disregarding isomorphic graphs) for a graph bounded by $C_3 := (v_1, v_2, v_3)$ with two vertices v_4 , v_5 adjacent to each other and one vertex in C_3 each.

is a nice construction sequence of *G*. For that, we need to show that G_5 does not contain a face of size 5 and that $\deg_{G_5}(v_5) \ge 2$. As $G_5 = G$ and *G* does not contain a face of size 5 by assumption, G_5 does not contain a face of size 5. Furthermore, as *G* is 2-connected, it holds that $\delta(G) \ge 2$. Thus, $\deg_{G_5}(v_5) = \deg_G(v_5) \ge \delta(G) \ge 2$ holds and σ is a nice construction sequence of *G*.

G is bounded by *C*₃: Assume now that *G* is bounded by *C*₃ := (v_1, v_2, v_3) . If |V(G)| = 3, the ordering $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3)$ clearly is a nice construction sequence. If |V(G)| = 4, let $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4)$. G_i does not contain a face of size at least 5 for $i \le 4$, as $|V(G_i)| = i \le 4$. Thus, we only need to show that $\deg_{G_4}(v_4) \ge 2$. As $G_4 = G$ and *G* is 2-connected, it holds that $\delta(G) \ge 2$. Thus, $\deg_{G_4}(v_4) \ge 2$ holds and σ is a nice construction sequence. Finally, assume that |V(G)| = 5 and that there exists no vertex ordering $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5)$ such that $\deg_{G_4}(v_4) \ge 2$. That means for all orderings $\sigma := (v_1, v_2, v_3, v_4, v_5)$ with the vertices v_1, v_2 , and v_3 being the vertices of the outer face, both v_4 and v_5 are incident to at most one vertex in $\{v_1, v_2, v_3\}$. As *G* is 2-connected, they are adjacent to exactly one of those vertices and furthermore adjacent to each other, as $\delta(G) \ge 2$. Thus, the graph *G* is isomorphic to one of the graphs depicted in Figure 4.3 and has a face incident to all five vertices. This contradicts the assumption that $\deg_{G_4}(v_4) \ge 2$. As *G* is 2-connected, it holds that $\deg_{G_5}(v_5) \ge 2$. Thus, σ is a nice construction sequence of *G*. This concludes the proof.

Note that this lemma does not hold for $k \ge 5$. For example, the graph G with the embedding depicted in Figure 4.4 is a 2-connected planar graph with at most k + 1 vertices, has no face that contains k + 1 or more vertices, and is bounded by C_{k-1} for $k \ge 5$. By Lemma 4.3, G is a planar quasi-k-tree, but the depicted embedding is not a nice canonical embedding. To see this, look at any vertex ordering σ of G that starts with the vertices incident to the outer face, which is a necessary condition for the embedding to be canonical. Then, the first vertex that is added after the vertices incident to the outer face has degree 1 at the time of its insertion. This contradicts the construction sequence being nice. However, there is a supergraph of G that has a nice construction sequence. For example, such a supergraph can be obtained by internally triangulating G. It is an open question if there is a planar quasi-k-tree that is not a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-k-tree.



Figure 4.4: A planar quasi-*k*-tree that is not a *nice* planar quasi-*k*-tree for $k \ge 5$.

In the following lemma and theorem, we use tree decompositions with several properties. In order to properly reference those properties, we give tree decompositions fulfilling these properties a name.

Definition 4.5: A tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of a planar graph *G* with a fixed planar embedding is *k*-nice if it fulfills the following properties:

- (i) (\mathcal{X}, T) has width at most k.
- (ii) There is a bag $X \in \mathcal{X}$ such that the vertices incident to the outer face of G are contained in X.
- (iii) For all $XY \in E(T)$ the vertices in $X \cap Y$ induce a simple cycle in G.
- (iv) For all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the graph G[X] is 2-connected.
- (v) For all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, every inner face of G[X] that is not a face in G is bounded by a cycle C that is induced by the vertices $X \cap Y$ for some neighbor Y of X in T.
- (vi) For all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the graph G[X] does not contain a face of size k + 1 or larger.
- (vii) For all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the graph G[X] is bounded by an induced simple cycle.
- (viii) If $|\mathcal{X}| > 1$, the graph G[X] contains more than one inner face for all $X \in \mathcal{X}$.
- (ix) For all $XY \in E(T)$, the graph G C with $C := G[X \cap Y]$ has exactly two components A and B, with A being in the interior of C and B being in the exterior of C. Furthermore, there is a subtree $T' \subseteq T$ and a subset $\mathcal{X}' \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ such that (\mathcal{X}', T') is a k-nice tree decomposition of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$.

Let us recall that we aim to show that every planar graph with treewidth at most k has a supergraph that is a planar quasi-k-tree. Before constructing k-nice tree decompositions, we show that they are useful, as every graph that has a k-nice tree decomposition is a planar quasi-k-tree.

Lemma 4.6: Let G be a planar graph with a fixed planar embedding with a k-nice tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of G. Then, G is a planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, if k = 4, the graph G is a nice planar quasi-k-tree.

Proof. We show the statement by induction on the number $i \in \mathbb{N}$ of inner faces of *G*. For i = 1 and k > 4, the statement follows directly from Lemma 4.3, as *G* contains at most 3 vertices. For i = 1 and k = 4, the statement follows directly from Lemma 4.4.

Assume therefore, that i > 1 and that the statement holds for all graphs with a k-nice tree decomposition and at most i - 1 inner faces and let G be a graph with a k-nice tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) and i inner faces. Let $X \in \mathcal{X}$ be a bag that contains all vertices incident to the outer face of G. We know such a bag X exists because of Property (ii) of k-nice tree decompositions. Moreover, we know that G[X] does not contain a face with size k + 1 or larger because of Property (vi) of k-nice tree decompositions. Thus, G[X] has only faces of size at most k. Furthermore, G[X] is bounded by a simple cycle because of Property (vii). Thus, G[X] is a planar quasi-k-tree by Lemma 4.3. Furthermore, as G[X] is 2-connected by Property (iv) of k-nice tree decompositions, if k = 4, then G[X] is a nice planar quasi-k-tree by Lemma 4.4.

Let f_1, \ldots, f_l be the inner faces in G[X] that are not faces in G. We know that there is at least one such face, as otherwise we would be in the base case. Let f_i be such a face and C_i the simple cycle bounding it. We know that f_i is bounded by a simple cycle because G[X]is 2-connected by Property (iv) of k-nice tree decompositions. Furthermore, we know that there exists a neighbor Y of X in T such that $X \cap Y$ induces C by Property (v) of k-nice tree decompositions. Thus, there exists a subtree $T' \subseteq T$ and a subset $\mathcal{X}' \subset \mathcal{X}$ such that (\mathcal{X}', T') is a k-nice tree decomposition of $\operatorname{int}_G(C_i)$. Recall that G[X] contains multiple inner faces because of Property (viii) of k-nice tree decompositions and C_i bounds one of them. Thus, $\operatorname{int}_G(C_i)$ has fewer inner faces than G. Therefore, by induction, $\operatorname{int}_G(C_i)$ is a planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, if k = 4, by induction, $\operatorname{int}_G(C_i)$ is a nice planar quasi-k-tree.

Let $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_l$ be (nice if k = 4) construction sequences of the graphs $\operatorname{int}_G(C_1), \ldots, \operatorname{int}_G(C_l)$ minus the vertices in C_1, \ldots, C_l , respectively, and σ be a (nice if k = 4) construction sequence of G[X]. Then, $\sigma \cdot \sigma_1 \cdots \sigma_l$ is a (nice if k = 4) construction sequence of G. This concludes the proof.

Now that we have shown that k-nice tree decompositions are useful, we prove that planar triangulations have k-nice tree decompositions. For that, we start by proving a key property of tree decompositions of triangulations in Lemmas 4.7 and 4.8.

We introduce the following notation for the next proof: Let (\mathcal{X}, T) be a tree decomposition of a graph G and $A \subseteq V(G)$ a set of vertices of G. Then, we define $T[A] := T[(\bigcup_{X \in \mathcal{X}} X \cap A) - \emptyset]$. Note that T[A] is connected if G[A] is connected. Furthermore, let $X \in \mathcal{X}$. Then, X_A is the corresponding bag in T[A]. Let (\mathcal{X}, T) be a tree decomposition of a graph G with width k. Then, we define $d_i((\mathcal{X}, T))$ as the number of edges $XY \in E(T)$ such that $|X \cap Y| - |C| = i$ with $C \subseteq X \cap Y$ being the smallest separator of G that is a subset of $X \cap Y$.

Lemma 4.7: Let G be a graph with treewidth k such that every inclusion minimal separator of G separates G into exactly two components. Then, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of G with width k such that for every inclusion minimal separator $C \subseteq V(G)$ and every edge $XY \in E(T)$, it holds that the vertices $(X \cap Y) - C$ are in the same component of G - C.

Proof. Let *G* be a triangulation and (\mathcal{X}, T) be a tree decomposition of *G* with width *k* such that the tuple

$$[(k+1, d_{k+1}((\mathcal{X}, T))), \dots, (1, d_1((\mathcal{X}, T)))]$$

is the lexicographically smallest of any tree decomposition with width k of G.

We claim that (\mathcal{X}, T) fulfils the claim. Assume that this is not the case. Then, there exists an inclusion minimal separator $C \subseteq V(G)$, that separates G into two components A and B, and an edge $XY \in E(T)$ such that there are vertices $a, b \in (X \cap Y) - C$ with $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. Let $T_A := T[A \cup C]$, $T_B := T[B \cup C]$, and $T' := (V(T_A) \cup V(T_B), E(T_A) \cup E(T_B) \cup \{X_A X_B\})$. We claim that (V(T'), T') is a tree decomposition of G. Note that the vertices in C are the only vertices that occur in both T_A and T_B . Thus, to show that (V(T'), T') is a tree decomposition we only need to show that vertices in C occur in a subtree of T', as T_A and T_B are both tree decompositions. Clearly, $(A \cup C) \cap (B \cup C) = C$. Thus, it holds that $C \subseteq X_A \cap X_B$ and (V(T'), T') is a tree decomposition. Furthermore, T_A is tree decomposition of $C \cup A$ and T_B is a tree decomposition of $B \cup C$. Thus, (V(T'), T') is a tree decomposition of G. We claim that

$$[(k+1, d_{k+1}((V(T)', T'))), \dots, (1, d_1((V(T'), T')))]$$

is lexicographically smaller than

$$[(k+1, d_{k+1}((\mathcal{X}, T))), \dots, (1, d_1((\mathcal{X}, T)))].$$

To see this, consider an edge $X'Y' \in E(T)$ and the corresponding edges $X_AY_A \in E(T_A)$ and $X_BY_B \in E(T_B)$. If neither $X_A \cap Y_A = X' \cap Y'$ nor $X_B \cap Y_B = X' \cap Y'$, we are done. Thus, assume without loss of generality, that $X_A \cap Y_A = X' \cap Y'$. Then, it holds that $X_B \cap Y_B = C$ (recall that $C \subseteq X \cap Y$ is a minimal separator), as all vertices in $X_A \cap Y_A = X' \cap Y'$ are in $A \cup C$ and it holds that $X_B \cap Y_B \subseteq B \cup C$. This means that every edge $X'Y' \in E(T)$ results either in two edges that are smaller, or in one edge that has the same size and one edge that that contains just C in T'. Additionally, recall that the edge $XY \in E(T)$ containes vertices $a, b \in (X \cap Y) - C$ with $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. Thus, the corresponding edges in T_A and T_B are smaller and

$$[(k+1, d_{k+1}((V(T)', T'))), \dots, (1, d_1((V(T'), T')))]$$

is indeed lexicographically smaller than

$$[(k+1, d_{k+1}((\mathcal{X}, T))), \dots, (1, d_1((\mathcal{X}, T)))].$$

This concludes the proof.

With this property, we are now ready to show the following lemma.

Lemma 4.8: Let G be a triangulation with treewidth k. Then, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of G that has width k such that for every edge $XY \in E(T)$, the vertices in $X \cap Y$ are an inclusion minimal separator of G.

Proof. It is well known that every inclusion minimal separator in a triangulation induces a cycle. Let C be the set of all induced cycles in G with length at most k. This means that for all tree decompositions (\mathcal{X}, T) of G and every edge $XY \in E(T)$, we have that $X \cap Y \subseteq V(C)$ for some $C \in C$. We show the following stronger statement by induction on the number $n \in \mathbb{N}$ of vertices in G.

Claim: Let G be an inner triangulation with treewidth k such that there is a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) with width k of G with the following properties:

- (i) There is a bag $X \in \mathcal{X}$ such that every vertex incident to the outer face of G is in X.
- (ii) For every edge $XY \in E(T)$, there is a subset $C \subseteq X \cap Y$ that induces a cycle in G.



Figure 4.5: The tree resulting from adding the vertex $X_{V'}$ and the edge $X_{V'}X_C$ to T'_C .

(iii) For every inclusion minimal separator $C \subseteq V(G)$ that induces a cycle in G and every edge $XY \in E(T)$, it holds that the vertices $(X \cap Y) - C$ are in the same component of G - C.

Then, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}', T') of G that fulfills these properties and for every edge $XY \in E(T')$, the vertices in $X \cap Y$ induce a cycle in G.

By Lemma 4.7, there is a tree decomposition for a triangulation that fulfills Property (iii). The other two properties clearly hold for every tree decomposition of a triangulation.

For $n \le k + 1$, the statement holds, as we can construct a tree decomposition with a single bag that contains all vertices.

Now, let *G* be an outerplanar graph with treewidth *k* and (\mathcal{X}, T) be a tree decomposition with width *k* of *G* fulfilling Properties (i) to (iii). Furthermore, assume that the statement holds for all such graphs with at most n - 1 vertices. Let *C* be the set of all cycles that are induced by the subset of an edge in E(T). Furthermore, let $V' \subseteq V(G)$ be the set of all vertices that are not in the interior of any cycle in *C*. Then, $V' \subseteq X_{V'}$ holds for some bag $X_{V'} \in \mathcal{X}$. Otherwise, there would be an edge $XY \in E(T)$ such that $X \cap Y \subseteq V'$ and $X \cap Y$ separates *V'*. Thus, there is at least one vertex in *V'* that is in the interior of a cycle in *C*. This contradicts that every vertex in *V'* is not in any cycle in *C*. Let $C' \subseteq C$ be the set of non-empty cycles in *C* that are not dominated by another cycle in *C*. By Property (iii), we have that the interiors of the cycles in *C'* are pairwise disjoint. Then, for every $C \in C'$, we claim that the tree decomposition $(\mathcal{X}_C, T_C) := (V(T_C), T[V(\text{int}_G(C)]) \text{ of int}_G(C) \text{ fulfills Properties (i) to (iii)}. Property (i) holds,$ as*C* $bounds <math>\text{int}_G(C)$ and is contained in a bag, because there is an edge in *T* that contains the vertices of *C*. Property (ii) holds, because otherwise there would be two cycles in *C'* that are not disjoint, which contradicts Property (iii) of (\mathcal{X}, T) . Finally, Property (iii) follows directly from Property (iii) holding for (\mathcal{X}, T) .

Thus, by induction, there is a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}'_C, T'_C) of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$, such that for every edge $X'Y' \in E(T'_C)$ the vertices in $X' \cap Y'$ induce a cycle in $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$. Let $X_C \in \mathcal{X}'_C$ be the bag containing C. Then, the tree decomposition $(\mathcal{X}'_C \cup \{X_{V'}, T'_C + \{X_{V'}\} + \{X_{V'}X_C\})$ is the desired tree decomposition of $G[V' \cup V(\operatorname{int}_G(C)]$. The tree decomposition $(\mathcal{X}'_C \cup \{X_{V'}\}, T'_C + \{X_{V'}X_C\})$ is depicted in Figure 4.5. Repeating this for all $C \in C'$ yields the desired tree decomposition of G.

Now that we have shown this property, we have everything we need, to show that every triangulation has a *k*-nice tree decomposition.



Figure 4.6: The graph G[X] with a cut vertex x and two components A and B of G[X] - x. If there are vertices $a \in A$ and $b \in B$ and a neighbor Y of Y with $a, b \in Y$, there exists a path P connecting a and b in G[X] - x.

Lemma 4.9: Let G be a planar triangulation with treewidth $k \ge 4$. Then, G has a k-nice tree decomposition.

Proof. As the outer face of *G* is a triangle, every tree decomposition of minimal width (\mathcal{X}, T) of *H* contains a bag that contains all vertices that are incident to the outer face proving Properties (i) and (ii) of *k*-nice tree decompositions.

By Lemma 4.8, there exists a tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) of *G* fulfilling Properties (i) to (iii) of *k*-nice tree decompositions.

Property (iv). Now, we show that Property (iv) of *k*-nice tree decompositions holds, i. e. that for every bag $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the graph G[X] is 2-connected. Assume this is not the case and G[X] is not 2-connected for some $X \in \mathcal{X}$. This means there exists a vertex $x \in X$ such that G[X] - x is disconnected. Let $A, B \subset X$ be two different inclusion maximal components of G[X] - x (see Figure 4.6). Using that every edge in *T* induces a cycle, we show that there exists no neighbor of *X* in *T* that contains a vertex $a \in A$ and a vertex $b \in B$. This holds, as every edge of *T* induces a cycle and thus *A* and *B* would not be distinct components of G[X] - x, as *a* and *b* would be connected by a path. Furthermore, as *G* is a triangulation and therefore is 2-connected, there is a path in G - x connecting *A* and *B*. As *X* is the only bag containing vertices from *A* and *B*, this path exists in G[X] as well. Thus, *A* and *B* are not distinct components of G[X] - x, G[X] is 2-connected, and thus Property (iv) holds.

Property (v). Now we show that Property (v) of k-nice tree decompositions holds, i. e. that for all $X \in \mathcal{X}$ and every inner face f of G[X] that is not a face in G, there exists a neighbor Y of X in T such that f is bounded by a cycle C that is induced by $X \cap Y$. For that, let $X \in \mathcal{X}$ be a bag and f be a face in G[X] that is not a face in G. Property (iv) of k-nice tree decompositions gives us that G[X] is 2-connected. Thus, f is bounded by a simple cycle $C \coloneqq (v_1, \ldots, v_l)$. We aim to find a neighbor Y of X in T such that $X \cap Y$ induces C. As f is not a face in G, there exists at least one vertex v in the interior of f in G. Let T' be the component of T - Xsuch that there exists a bag in T' that contains v. Furthermore, let Y be the bag in T' that is adjacent to X in T and let $A \subset V(G)$ be the inclusion maximal component of G containing v that is separated by $C' := X \cap Y$. Our goal is to show that C = C'. First, as C' is an inclusion minimal separator in G, every vertex in C' is adjacent to a vertex in A. Thus, every vertex in C' is in C, as otherwise G would not be planar. Now, assume that there exists a vertex in C that is not part of C' and let v_i, \ldots, v_i be a non-empty inclusion maximal interval of vertices in C that are not in C' as depicted in Figure 4.7. This means v_{i-1} and v_{i+1} are part of C'. Note that $v_{i-1} \neq v_{j+1}$, as all vertices of C' are part of C and C' contains at least three vertices, as it induces a simple cycle. Furthermore, as C bounds f, there is no edge $v_{i-1}v_{j+1}$ in the interior of f. Otherwise, f would not be a face in G[X], as v_{i-1} and v_{j+1} are not consecutive in C. This



Figure 4.7: The cycle *C*. The vertices v_i, \ldots, v_j (red) are not in *C*', while the vertices v_{i-1}, v_{j+1} and at least one more vertex v_l are in *C*'. The edge $v_{i-1}v_{j+1}$ can be drawn along the path $P := (v_{i-1}, a_1, \ldots, a_l, v_{j+1})$, which is part of *A*.

holds once again because C' contains at least three vertices. Let $P := (v_{i-1}, a_1, \ldots, a_l, v_{j+1})$ be a path with $a_1, \ldots, a_l \in A$. Furthermore, let P be minimal in the sense that there exists no other such path P' in $G[A \cup \{v_{i-1}, v_{j+1}\}]$ with $P' \subseteq \operatorname{int}_G((v_{i-1}, a_1, \ldots, a_l, v_{j+1}, v_j, v_{j-1}, \ldots, v_i))$. This is depicted in Figure 4.7. As C' is a minimal separator, there is no vertex in $G - (A \cup V(C'))$ that is adjacent to A. Thus, we can draw an edge along P that connects v_{i-1} and v_{j+1} . This is a contradiction to G being a triangulation. Consequently, there exists no vertex in C that is not in C'. As we already showed that every vertex in C' is in C and C' is an induced cycle, we have that C is induced by $C' = X \cap Y$. Therefore, Property (v) holds.

Properties (v) and (vi). We can assume without loss of generality, that there are no two different bags in \mathcal{X} that contain exactly the same vertices. Thus, for each $XY \in E(T)$, it holds that $|X \cap Y| \leq k$. Therefore, Property (v) immediately implies Property (vi).

Property (vii). Now, we show that Property (vii) of *k*-nice tree decompositions holds, i. e. that for all $X \in \mathcal{X}$, the graph G[X] is bounded by a simple induced cycle. For the bag that contains the outer face of *G*, this holds, as *G* is bounded by a triangle. Together with Property (v), this immediately implies Property (vii).

Property (viii). Now, we show that Property (viii) of *k*-nice tree decompositions holds. Assume that Property (viii) does not hold and thus $|\mathcal{X}| > 1$ and G[X] contains only one inner face for some $X \in \mathcal{X}$. We assume without loss of generality that the tree decomposition (\mathcal{X}, T) is minimal in the sense that there exists no other tree decomposition fulfilling Properties (i) to (vi) of *k*-nice tree decompositions that contains fewer bags. We show that if G[X] has only one inner face, then (\mathcal{X}, T) is not minimal. As G[X] contains only a single inner face, we know that all neighbors of *X* in *T* contain every vertex in *X*. Otherwise, there is a non-spanning induced cycle in G[X] because of Property (iii). As G[X] is 2-connected because of Property (iv), this would immediately contradict G[X] having only one inner face. Let *Y* be a neighbor of *X* in *T* (such a neighbor exists as $|\mathcal{X}| > 1$) and let $(\mathcal{X} - X, T')$ be the tree decomposition that results from contracting *XY* in *T*. Let the vertex resulting from the contraction be *Y'* with the corresponding bag containing the vertices in $X \cup Y$. Note that $X \subseteq Y$ and thus $X \cup Y = Y$. As Properties (i), (ii), (iv), and (vi) are statements only regarding single bags and not the edges in T' and $\mathcal{X} - X \subseteq \mathcal{X}$, they still hold for $(\mathcal{X} - X, T')$. Furthermore, as $Z \cap X = Z \cap Y'$ for all neighbors $Z \neq Y$ of X in T, Properties (iii) and (v) hold as well. This contradicts the minimality of (\mathcal{X}, T) . Thus, Property (viii) holds.

Property (ix). It remains to show that Property (ix) of *k*-nice tree decompositions holds. For that, let $XY \in E(T)$ and $C := G[X \cap Y]$. We start by showing that G - C has exactly two components A and B with A being in the interior of C and B being in the exterior of C. As every edge in T is an inclusion minimal separator, G - C has at least 2 components. As C is an induced cycle because of Property (iii), every component of G - C is either entirely in the interior of *C* or entirely in the exterior of *C*. Assume Property (ix) does not hold. Then, G - C contains either two components that are both in the interior or both in the exterior of C, respectively. Without loss of generality, we assume that G - C has at least two components A and B in the interior of C. As C is an inclusion minimal separator, every vertex in C is adjacent to some vertex in A and some vertex in B. Now, we look at the graph $G[A \cup B \cup V(C)]$ and add an additional vertex v that is adjacent to all vertices of C. We can add this vertex v in the exterior of C maintaining the planarity of the graph. However, contracting A and B into a single vertex a and b, respectively, yields a minor of $K_{3,3}$ with a, b, and v forming the vertices of one of the partitions and any three vertices in C forming the other partition (see Figure 4.8). This contradicts G being planar. Thus, G - C has exactly one component in the interior of C and exactly one component in the exterior of C. Let A be the component of G - C in the interior of *C*.

Let T' and T'' be the components of T - XY with T' containing at least one bag that contains a vertex in the interior of C. Furthermore, let $\mathcal{X}' \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ and $\mathcal{X}'' \subseteq \mathcal{X}$ be the sets of bags that occur in T' and T'' respectively. We claim that (\mathcal{X}', T') is a k-nice tree decomposition of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$. We start by showing that (\mathcal{X}', T') is a tree decomposition of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$. Assume this is not the case. Then, both (\mathcal{X}', T') and (\mathcal{X}'', T'') contain vertices from the interior of C or both tree decompositions contain vertices from the exterior of C. Assume without loss of generality that both tree decompositions contain vertices from the interior of C. This contradicts that G - C has exactly one component in the interior of C. Thus, (\mathcal{X}', T') is a tree decomposition of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$. It remains to show that (\mathcal{X}', T') is k-nice.

For that, we first note that Properties (i), (iii), (iv), and (vi) to (ix) still hold. This follows directly from Properties (i), (iii), (iv), and (vi) to (ix) holding for (\mathcal{X}, T) .

Thus, it remains to show that Properties (ii) and (v) hold. As the outer face of $\operatorname{int}_G(C)$ is bounded by C and $V(C) \subseteq Y$, Property (ii) holds for (\mathcal{X}', T') . Regarding Property (v), it is clear that the only bag it might not hold for is Y, as all other bags in T' have the same neighbors in T' as in T. Assume Property (v) does not hold for Y. This means that there is an inner face in G[Y] bounded by a cycle C' that is not a face in G such that there is no neighbor Z of Y in T'such that C' is induced by $Y \cap Z$. As the only neighbor of Y in T that is not in T' is X and Property (v) of k-nice tree decompositions holds for (\mathcal{X}, T) , it holds that X = Z. We know that $X \cap Y$ induces C. As C is an induced simple cycle that bounds G[Y], this means that G[Y]has only a single inner face. This contradicts Property (viii) of k-nice tree decompositions for (\mathcal{X}, T) . Thus, Property (v) holds for (\mathcal{X}', T') , (\mathcal{X}', T') is a k-nice tree decomposition of int_G(C), and Property (ix) holds.

As we have shown that Properties (i) to (ix) hold, this concludes the proof. \Box

Finally, we use the following lemma by Biedl and Ruiz Velázquez to triangulate planar graphs without increasing the treewidth.



Figure 4.8: $K_{3,3}$ with one partition consisting of the vertices on a cycle $C := (c_1, \ldots, c_{|C|})$ and the other partition being $\{a, b, v\}$.

Lemma 4.10 (Biedl and Ruiz Velázquez, 2013[12]): Let G be a planar graph with $tw(G) \le k$ with $|V(G)| \ge 4$ vertices. Then, there exists a triangulation $G' \supseteq G$ with |V(G')| = |V(G)| and $tw(G') = max\{tw(G), 3\}$.

Now, we can prove Theorem 1.5, which is the main result of this chapter.

Theorem 1.5: For every planar graph G with treewidth $k \ge 4$, there exists a planar quasi-ktree H with $G \subseteq H$ and |V(G)| = |V(H)|. Furthermore, if k = 4, there exists such a planar quasi-k-tree H that is nice.

Proof. By Lemma 4.10, there exists a triangulation H of G with the same treewidth as G and the same set of vertices as G. Thus, by Lemma 4.9, there exists a k-nice tree decomposition of G and, by Lemma 4.6, H is a planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, for k = 4, Lemma 4.6 gives us that H is a *nice* planar quasi-k-tree. As |G| = |H|, this concludes the proof.

This proves Conjecture 2.18 in the positive, as the existence of a nice construction sequence is equivalent to the existence of a sequence of vertex insertions as defined in Definition 2.17. Furthermore, we now have a better understanding of what is sufficient to construct all edge maximal planar graphs with treewidth k. This motivates the following corollaries.

Corollary 4.11: Every planar quasi-4-tree is a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-4-tree with the same set of vertices.

Corollary 4.12: For all $k \ge 4$, every edge maximal planar graph of treewidth at most k is a planar quasi-k-tree.

Corollary 4.13: For all $k \ge 4$, every planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, every planar graph with treewidth at most 4 is a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-4-tree.

In particular, this means that every triangulation with treewidth at most 4 is a nice planar quasi-k-tree. For k > 4, it is not clear whether this holds. This leads us to the following open question.

Question 4.14: *Is there a planar quasi-k-tree that is not a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-k-tree?*

5 Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees

In this chapter, we look at the stack number of upward planar quasi-4-trees. We start by definining upward planar quasi-4-trees and *canonically* upward planar-4-trees in Section 5.1. Then, we look at two different subclasses of upward planar quasi-4-trees in Sections 5.2 and 5.3.

5.1 Upward and Canonically Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees

We say a directed graph *G* is an *upward planar quasi-4-tree* if the underlying undirected graph is a planar quasi-4-tree and *G* has an upward planar embedding.

However, to properly use the construction sequence of a planar quasi-4-tree, we need a canonical embedding, i. e. an embedding that results from a construction sequence. We call those graphs, i. e. upward orientations of canonical embeddings, *canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees*. We relate these two graph classes, as well as several other graph classes at the end of this section.

We can obtain canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees by using a construction sequence as defined in Definition 4.1 by simply replacing every occurrence of *planar* with *upward planar*. This results in the following definition.

Definition 5.1: Let G be a directed graph and $\sigma := (v_1, ..., v_n)$ be a vertex ordering of G. If there exists an upward planar embedding of G and an integer $l \le k$ such that

- $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_l\}]$ is a simple cycle that bounds the outer face of G,
- for every $l < i \le n$, every face in $G_i \coloneqq G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_i\}]$ is bounded by at most k vertices, and
- for every $l < i \le n$, it holds that $\deg_{G_i}(v_i) \ge 1$,

we call σ a k-construction sequence of G and G a canonically upward planar quasi-k-tree. Furthermore, if deg_{Gi}(v_i) \geq 2 for every $l < i \leq n$, we call σ a nice k-construction sequence of G and G a nice canonically upward planar quasi-k-tree. We refer to the upward planar embedding of G for that a (nice) k-construction sequence exists as a (nice) canonical embedding of G. We omit the k and refer to σ as a construction sequence of G if the k is clear from the context.

However, as we only look at canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees and not at canonically upward planar quasi-k-trees for arbitrary k, we can instead use a more explicit definition akin to Definition 2.17 by listing all possible ways to insert a vertex in a given upward planar quasi-4-tree. This leads to the following definition of nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees.

Definition 5.2: A graph G with a fixed upward planar embedding is a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree if G is an upward planar embedding of C_3 or C_4 or it can be constructed using one of the following rules:



Figure 5.1: On the left side, a graph resulting from applying the insertion rule $(T2)^-$ to the triangular face (t_1, t_2, t_3) . On the right side, a graph resulting from applying the insertion rule $(T2)^+$

- (i) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ into a triangular face (t_1, t_2, t_3) of G' and at least two edges incident to v and a vertex in $\{t_1, t_2, t_3\}$, with all inserted edges being upward.
- (ii) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ into a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) of G' and an edge incident to v and q_1 as well as an edge incident to v and q_3 and potentially edges incident to v and a vertex in $\{q_2, q_4\}$, with all inserted edges being upward.

In this section, especially in the proof of Theorem 1.6, we need to reference the specific way a vertex is inserted. Therefore, we give each way of inserting a vertex a name, depending on the orientation of the cycle bounding the face the vertex is inserted in and the orientation of the edges that are inserted. This results in the allowed vertex insertions (T1) to (T5), (Q1.1) to (Q1.4), (Q2.1) to (Q2.4), (Q3.1) to (Q3.4), and (Q4.1) to (Q4.4). These rules still allow some freedom, as there are optional edges that do not have to be added. For a rule *R*, we refer to the insertion where no optional edge is added as R^- and to the insertion where at least one optional edge is added as R^+ . For an example, see Figure 5.1.

Definition 5.3: A graph G with a fixed upward planar embedding is a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree if G is an upward planar embedding of C_3 or C_4 or it can be constructed using one of the following rules:

- (i) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges e_1, e_2 , and possibly e_3 , where (t_1, t_2, t_3) is a triangular face of G' and $t_1t_2, t_2t_3 \in E'$, with e_1, e_2 , and e_3 fulfilling one of the following statements:
 - (T1) $e_1 = t_1 v$, $e_2 = v t_3$, and $e_3 \in \{v t_2, t_2 v\}$, as depicted in Figure 5.2a.
 - (T2) $e_1 = t_1v$, $e_2 = vt_2$, and $e_3 = vt_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.2b.
 - (T3) $e_1 = t_2 v$, $e_2 = v t_3$, and $e_3 = t_1 v$, as depicted in Figure 5.2c.
 - (T4) $e_1 = vt_2$, $e_2 = vt_3$, and $e_3 = t_1v$, as depicted in Figure 5.2d.
 - (T5) $e_1 = t_1v$, $e_2 = t_2v$, and $e_3 = vt_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.2e.



Figure 5.2: All possible ways to insert a vertex v in a triangular face (t_1, t_2, t_3) of a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree. Dashed edges may be omitted. Undirected dashed edges may be added in either direction.

- (ii) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges e_1, e_2 , and possibly e_3 and/or e_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G', $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_2q_3, q_3q_4 \in E'$, and e_1, e_2, e_3 , and e_4 fulfill one of the following statements:
 - (Q1.1) $e_1 = q_1v$, $e_2 = q_3v$, $e_3 = q_2v$, and $e_4 = vq_4$, as depicted in Figure 5.3a.
 - (Q1.2) $e_1 = vq_2$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1v$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.3b.
 - (Q1.3) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1 v$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.3c.
 - (Q1.4) $e_1 = q_1 v$, $e_2 = vq_3$, $e_3 = q_2 v$, and $e_4 = vq_4$, as depicted in Figure 5.3d.



Figure 5.3: All possible ways to insert a vertex ν in a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) with $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_2q_3, q_3q_4 \in E(G')$ of a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G'. Dashed edges may be omitted. Undirected dashed edges may be added in either direction.

- (iii) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges e_1, e_2 . and possibly e_3 and/or e_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G', $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_2q_3, q_4q_3 \in E'$, and e_1, e_2, e_3 , and e_4 fulfill one of the following statements:
 - (Q2.1) $e_1 = q_1v$, $e_2 = vq_3$, $e_3 \in \{q_2v, vq_2\}$, and $e_4 \in \{vq_4, q_4v\}$, as depicted in Figure 5.4a.
 - (Q2.2) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1 v$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.4b.
 - (Q2.3) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = q_4 v$, $e_3 = q_1 v$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.4c.
 - (Q2.4) $e_1 = vq_2$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1v$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.4d.



Figure 5.4: All possible ways to insert a vertex v in a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) with $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_2q_3, q_4q_3 \in E(G')$ of a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G'. Dashed edges may be omitted. Undirected dashed edges may be added in either direction.

- (iv) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges e_1, e_2 , and possibly e_3 and/or e_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G', $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_3q_2, q_3q_4 \in E'$, and e_1, e_2, e_3 , and e_4 fulfill one of the following statements:
 - (Q3.1) $e_1 = q_1 v$, $e_2 = q_3 v$, $e_3 = q_2 v$, and $e_4 = vq_4$, as depicted in Figure 5.5a.
 - (Q3.2) $e_1 = vq_2$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1v$, and no e_4 , as depicted in Figure 5.5b.
 - (Q3.3) $e_1 = vq_2$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_3v$, and no e_4 , as depicted in Figure 5.5c.
 - (Q3.4) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = vq_4$, $e_3 = q_1 v$, and $e_4 = q_3 v$, as depicted in Figure 5.5d.



Figure 5.5: All possible ways to insert a vertex v in a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) with $q_1q_2, q_1q_4, q_3q_2, q_3q_4 \in E(G')$ of a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G'. Dashed edges may be omitted.

- (v) G is obtained from a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G' = (V', E') with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding by inserting a vertex $v \notin V'$ and edges e_1, e_2 , and possibly e_3 and/or e_4 , where (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) is a quadrangular face of G', $q_4q_1, q_4q_3, q_2q_3, q_2q_1 \in E'$, and e_1, e_2, e_3 , and e_4 fulfill one of the following statements:
 - (Q4.1) $e_1 = vq_1$, $e_2 = vq_3$, $e_3 = vq_2$, and $e_4 = q_4v$, as depicted in Figure 5.6a.
 - (Q4.2) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = q_4 v$, $e_3 = vq_1$, and no e_4 , as depicted in Figure 5.6b.
 - (Q4.3) $e_1 = q_2 v$, $e_2 = q_4 v$, $e_3 = vq_3$, and no e_4 , as depicted in Figure 5.6c.
 - (Q4.4) $e_1 = vq_2$, $e_2 = q_4v$, $e_3 = vq_1$, and $e_4 = vq_3$, as depicted in Figure 5.6d.



Figure 5.6: All possible ways to insert a vertex ν in a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) with $q_4q_1, q_4q_3, q_2q_3, q_2q_1 \in E(G')$ of a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree G'. Dashed edges may be omitted.

Relating upward planar graph classes. In Section 2.4 we discussed the relation between upward planar graphs with treewidth 2 and 3, upward planar 2-trees, and upward planar 3-trees. We want to revisit the Venn diagram showing these relations depicted in Figure 2.11 and add canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees and upward planar quasi-4-trees to it.

We start by observing that canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees are a proper subset of upward planar quasi-4-trees. For example, the graph depicted in Figure 5.7 is a planar quasi-4-tree that has an upward planar embedding but has no upward canonical embedding with the given orientation. However, the graph is a subgraph of a canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree. This leads us to the following open question.

Question 5.4: Is there an upward planar quasi-4-tree that is not a subgraph of a canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree?



(a) The unique combinatorial upward planar embedding of *G* in black.



(**b**) A canonical embedding of *G* that is not upward.

Figure 5.7: A planar quasi-4-tree *G* that is upward planar but not canonically upward planar in black. Adding the red edge yields a canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree.

We already discussed in Section 2.4 that there are graphs with treewidth 2 that are not a subgraph of an upward planar 2-tree as well as upward planar 2-trees that are not a subgraph of an upward planar 3-tree. The two examples we gave for such graphs are depicted in Figures 2.9 and 2.10. However, both of these graphs are subgraphs of canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees. Canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees that are supergraphs of the



Figure 5.8: On the left is the graph depicted in Figure 2.9 in black. On the right is the graph depicted in Figure 2.10 in black. In both cases adding the gray edges results in a canonically nice upward planar quasi-4-tree with construction sequence (v_1, \ldots, v_8) .

graphs depicted in Figures 2.9 and 2.10 are depicted in Figure 5.8. It is an open question whether there is an upward planar graph with treewidth at most 4 that is not a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-4-tree. This leads us to the following open questions and to the Venn diagram depicted in Figure 5.9.

Question 5.5: Is there an upward planar 2-tree that is not a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-4-tree?

Question 5.6: *Is there an upward planar graph with treewidth* 2, 3, *or* 4 *that is not a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-*4*-tree?*

A-constructible and *A*-free. As it proves to be rather difficult to bound the stack number of all nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees, we look at several subclasses of nice canonically planar quasi-4-trees instead. We believe that insights for those subclasses can prove useful in the pursuit of a bound for the entire graph class. We obtain these subclasses by restricting the allowed vertex insertions. We define these restricted graph classes in the following way.

Definition 5.7: A nice upward planar quasi-4-tree is A-free for a set of insertion rules A if there exists a nice construction sequence of G that does not contain any rule in A. Conversely, G is A-constructible if there exists a nice construction sequence of G that contains only rules in A.

We look at two different ways of doing this in the following two sections. In Section 5.2, we look at $\{(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-\}$ -free nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees. In Section 5.3, we look at $\{(Q3.1)^-, (Q3.2)^-, (Q3.3)^-, (Q4.1)^-, (Q4.2)^-, (Q4.3)^-\}$ -constructible nice upward planar quasi-4-trees.



Figure 5.9: A Venn diagram relating upward planar graphs with treewidth 2, 3, and 4, upward planar 2-trees, upward planar 3-trees, canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees, and upward planar quasi-4-trees. The hatched areas may be empty.

5.2 Nice Canonically Upward Planar Quasi-4-Trees With Bounded Depth

In this section, we examine the stack number of nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees with bounded *depth*. For that, we start by defining the depth of a planar quasi-*k*-tree. We do this inductively. To do this we have to make a small observation first.

Observation 5.8: Let G be a nice planar quasi-k-tree with a nice construction sequence $\sigma := (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ and an outer face that contains exactly the vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l with $l \le k$. Furthermore, let f_1, \ldots, f_m be the faces in $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{l+1}\}]$. Then, the graphs G_1, \ldots, G_m that are bounded by the cycles bounding f_1, \ldots, f_m are nice planar quasi-k-trees (see Figure 5.10).

Intuitively, one can think of the depth of a planar quasi-*k*-tree as the number of steps of its construction if we allow to insert a vertex into each face in each step of the construction. This differs from our usual definition where we place a vertex in exactly one face in each step of the construction. Formally, we define the depth of a planar quasi-*k*-tree in the following way.

Definition 5.9: Let G be a nice planar quasi-k-tree with a nice construction sequence $\sigma := (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ and an outer face that contains exactly the vertices v_1, \ldots, v_l with $l \le k$. If l = n, the depth $d(\sigma)$ of σ is 1. Otherwise, let f_1, \ldots, f_m be the faces in $G[\{v_1, \ldots, v_{l+1}\}]$ and G_1, \ldots, G_m be the graphs bounded by the cycles bounding f_1, \ldots, f_m respectively. Furthermore, let $\sigma_1, \ldots, \sigma_m$ be nice construction sequences of G_1, \ldots, G_m respectively. Then, the depth of σ is defined as $d(\sigma) = \max\{d(\sigma_i) : 1 \le i \le m\} + 1$. The depth d(G) of G is the minimum over the depths of all nice construction sequences of G.



Figure 5.10: A nice planar quasi-*k*-tree *G*. It is the union of the graphs G_1 , G_2 and G_3 . The depth d(G) of *G* is max{ $d(G_1)$, $d(G_2)$, $d(G_3)$ } + 1.

Now that we have defined the *depth* of a planar quasi-*k*-tree, we go back to nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees. We aim to show a bound for a subclass of nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees that is dependent on the depth of the graph. To do this, we limit the graph class by disallowing three possible ways of inserting a vertex. Namely, we look at nice canonically upward planar quasi-*k*-trees with a $\{(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-\}$ -free construction sequence. Recall that for an insertion rule *R*, the rule *R*⁻ is the same insertion rule, but without any optional edges added. On the other hand, *R*⁺ is the same insertion rule, but



Figure 5.11: From left to right the insertion rules $(Q2.2)^-$, $(Q3.4)^-$, and $(Q4.4)^-$.

with at least one optional edge added. Thus, a $\{(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-\}$ -free construction sequence can contain any insertion rule that is entirely different from (Q2.2), (Q3.4), and (Q4.4) as well as the rules $(Q2.2)^+, (Q3.4)^+$, and $(Q4.4)^+$ (and no other rules). The three forbidden rules $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-$, and $(Q4.4)^-$ are depicted in Figure 5.11.

In the following proof, we combine multiple vertex orderings. For that, we introduce the following notation:

- Let $\phi \coloneqq (v_1, \dots, v_n)$ be a vertex ordering of a graph bounded by a triangle (v_1, v_i, v_n) with 1 < i < n. Then, we define $L_{\phi} \coloneqq (v_2, \dots, v_{i-1})$ and $R_{\phi} \coloneqq (v_{i+1}, \dots, v_{n-1})$.
- Let $\phi := (v_1, \dots, v_n)$ be a vertex ordering of a graph bounded by a quadrangle $(v_1, v_i, v_j v_n)$ with 1 < i < j < n. Then, we define $L_{\phi} := (v_2, \dots, v_{i-1}), M_{\phi} := (v_{i+1}, \dots, v_{j-1})$, and $R_{\phi} := (v_{j+1}, \dots, v_{n-1})$.

Theorem 1.6: Let G be a { $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-$ }-free nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree. Then, it holds that $tn(G) \leq 5d(G)$, with d(G) being the depth of G.

Proof. We show the following stronger statement by induction on the depth d(G) of G.

Claim: Let G be a nice canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree with a { $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-$ }free construction sequence σ with a fixed canonical upward planar embedding. Let v_t be the vertex that has the highest y-coordinate of all vertices in G and v_b be the vertex that has the lowest y-coordinate of all vertices in G. Then, there is a topological vertex ordering ϕ of G such that

- (i) $\operatorname{tn}_{\phi}(G) \leq 5d(G)$.
- (ii) $v_b \leq_{\phi} v \leq_{\phi} v_t$ for all vertices $v \in V(G)$.
- (iii) If G is bounded by a quadrangle as depicted in Figure 5.5, it holds that $q_1 <_{\phi} q_2 <_{\phi} v$ for all $v \in V(G) \{q_1, q_2\}$.
- (iv) If G is bounded by a quadrangle as depicted in Figure 5.6, it holds that $v <_{\phi} q_2 <_{\phi} q_1$ for all $v \in V(G) \{q_1, q_2\}$.

For d = 1, the statement holds as $|V(G)| \le 4$ and thus $tn(G) \le 2$.

Now, let *G* be a { $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-$ }-free nice upward planar quasi-4-tree with a { $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-$ }-free construction sequence $\sigma := (v_1, \ldots, v_n)$ with depth $d(G) \in \mathbb{N}$ and assume that the claim holds for all { $(Q2.2)^-, (Q3.4)^-, (Q4.4)^-$ }-free nice upward planar quasi-4-trees *G'* with depth d(G') < d(G). We do a case distinction based on the first insertion rule in σ , i. e. the first vertex in σ that is not incident to the outer face of *G*. For each possible

insertion rule, we assume that the vertices incident to the outer face of *G* are named as in the figure depicting the respective rule to the right of the respective paragraph. For each rule, we look at two or three subgraphs G_1 and G_2 , or G_1 , G_2 , and G_3 of *G* that have smaller depth and then combine the topological orderings of these subgraphs to obtain a topological ordering of *G*. As G_1 , G_2 , and G_3 have less depth than *G*, there exist orderings ϕ_1 , ϕ_2 , and ϕ_3 for G_1 , G_2 , and G_3 , respectively, that fulfill the properties of the claim. For every rule, there are optional edges that may or may not be added. The orderings we construct respect the restraints these optional edges might put onto our topological ordering. However, if such an edge exists, this divides a quadrangle into two triangles. This makes it easier to combine the vertex orderings. Thus, we assume without loss of generality, that no optional edges exist, but that the constraints on our topological ordering hail from directed paths (that are not a single edge).

All orderings ϕ we construct will clearly fulfill Properties (ii) to (iv). Furthermore, for the subgraphs G_1, \ldots, G_i with $i \in \{2, 3\}$, that we define in each case, the following property holds.

(v) Let ϕ' be the ordering ϕ without the vertices incident to the outer face of $G(t_1, t_2, t_3 \text{ if } G$ is bounded by a triangle and q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4 if G is bounded by a quadrangle) and without the first vertex that is inserted ν . Then, for at most one graph G_i with $i \in \{1, 2, 3\}$, the vertices of G_i are not continuous in ϕ' .

Let ϕ be a vertex ordering fulfilling Properties (ii) to (v) and let ϕ' be defined as in Property (v). We claim that ϕ fulfills Property (i). By Property (v), we have that the vertices in all but one subgraph G_1, G_2 , and G_3 are continuous in ϕ' . Thus, every twist in ϕ may only contain vertices in at most one subgraph G_1, G_2 , or G_3 plus potentially the vertices incident to the outer face of *G* and *v*. As the number of vertices incident to the outer face is at most 4, i. e. 5 together with ν , we get that

 $tn_{\phi}(G) \le \max\{tn_{\phi_1}(G_1), tn_{\phi_2}(G_2), tn_{\phi_3}(G_3)\} + 5$ $\le 5 \max\{d(G_1), d(G_2), d(G_3)\} + 5$ $\le 5(d(G) - 1) + 5$ = 5d(G)

Thus, Property (i) holds for every ordering fulfilling Properties (ii) to (v). It remains to construct a vertex ordering for every insertion rule. The rest of the proof is dedicated to this.

(T1) Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((t_1, v, t_3))$ and $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((t_1, v, t_3, t_2))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from t_2 to v (if there is a directed path from v to t_2 , it is symmetrical). Let $\phi_1 := (t_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_3)$ and $\phi_2 := (t_1, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(t_1, L_{\phi_2}, t_2, M_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, \nu, R_{\phi_1}, R_{\phi_2}, t_3)$$



(T2) Let $G_1 := \text{int}_G((t_1, v, t_2))$ and $G_2 := \text{int}_G((t_1, v, t_2, t_3))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from v to t_3 . Let $\phi_1 := (t_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_2)$ and $\phi_2 := (t_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, t_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(t_1, L_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, \nu, R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2}, t_2, R_{\phi_2}, t_3)$$

(T3) Let $G_1 := \text{int}_G((t_2, v, t_3))$ and $G_2 := \text{int}_G((t_1, t_2, v, t_3))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from t_1 to v. Let $\phi_1 := (t_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_3)$ and $\phi_2 := (t_1, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(t_1, L_{\phi_2}, t_2, M_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, \nu, R_{\phi_1}, R_{\phi_2}, t_3)$$

(T4) Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((v, t_2, t_3))$ and $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((t_1, t_2, v, t_3))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from t_1 to v. Let $\phi_1 := (v, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, t_3)$ and $\phi_2 := (t_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, t_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(t_1, L_{\phi_2}, \nu, M_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, t_2, R_{\phi_1}, R_{\phi_2}, t_3)$$

(T5) Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((t_1, t_2, v))$ and $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((t_1, v, t_2, t_3))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from v to t_3 . Let $\phi_1 := (t_1, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, v)$ and $\phi_2 := (t_1, \ldots, t_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, t_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(t_1, L_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, t_2, R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, t_3)$$

(Q1.1) Let $G_1 := \text{int}_G((q_1, q_2, q_3, \nu))$ and $G_2 := \text{int}_G((q_1, \nu, q_3, q_4))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from ν to q_4 . Let $\phi_1 := (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, q_3, \ldots, \nu)$ and $\phi_2 := (q_1, \ldots, q_3, \ldots, \nu, \ldots, q_4)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_2}, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, M_{\phi_1}, q_3, R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, q_4)$$













(Q1.3) Let $G_1 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, \nu, q_4))$ and $G_2 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_2, \nu, q_4, q_3))$. Let $\phi_1 \coloneqq (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, \nu, \ldots, q_4)$ and ϕ_2 . Depending on whether there is a directed path from ν to q_3 or from q_3 to ν , we have either $\phi_2 = (q_2, \ldots, q_3, \ldots, \nu, \ldots, q_4)$ or $\phi_2 = (q_2, \ldots, \nu, \ldots, q_3, \ldots, q_4)$. In the first case, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, M_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, q_3, M_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_1}, q_4)$$

In the second case, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, M_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, \nu, M_{\phi_2}, q_3, R_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_1}, q_4)$$

(Q1.4) Let $G_1 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_3, q_4))$ and $G_2 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_3, q_2))$. Let $\phi_1 \coloneqq (q_1, \dots, v, \dots, q_3, \dots, q_4)$ and depending on whether there is a directed path from v to q_2 or from q_2 to v, we have either $\phi_2 =$ $(q_1, \dots, v, \dots, q_2, \dots, q_3)$ or $\phi_2 = (q_1, \dots, q_2, \dots, v, \dots, q_3)$. In the first case, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, \nu, M_{\phi_2}, q_2, R_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1}, q_3, R_{\phi_1}, q_4)$$

In the second case, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, q_2, M_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1}, q_3, R_{\phi_1}, q_4)$$

(Q2.1) Let $G_1 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_3, q_4))$ and $G_2 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_3, q_2))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is a directed path from *v* to q_4 (if there is a directed path from q_4 to *v* it is symmetrical). Let $\phi_1 \coloneqq (q_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4, \ldots, q_3)$ and depending on whether there is a directed path from *v* to q_2 or from q_2 to *v*, we have either $\phi_2 =$ $(q_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, q_3)$ or $\phi_2 = (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_3)$. In the first case, we know that there is no directed path from q_2 to q_4 and no directed path from q_4 to q_2 . Thus, we may choose their order in any topological ordering. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, v, M_{\phi_2}, q_2, R_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1}, q_4, R_{\phi_1}, q_3)$$

In the second case, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, q_2, M_{\phi_2}, v, R_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1}, q_4, R_{\phi_1}, q_3)$$

(Q2.3) Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, v, q_4))$ and $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_2, q_3, q_4, v))$. We assume without loss of generality that there is no directed path from q_4 to q_2 . Let $\phi_1 := (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, q_4, \ldots, v)$ and $\phi_2 := (q_2, q_4, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, M_{\phi_1}, q_4, R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, q_3)$$

Note that L_{ϕ_2} is empty.









(Q2.4) Symmetrical to (Q2.3).

(Q3.1) Let $G_1 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, q_3, v))$ and $G_2 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_3, q_4))$. We assume without loss of generality that q_1 has a smaller *y*-coordinate than q_3 and that there are directed paths from q_2 to v and from v to q_4 . Let $\phi_1 \coloneqq (q_1, q_3, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v)$ and $\phi_2 \coloneqq (q_1, q_3, \ldots, v, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, q_3, M_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1}, q_2, R_{\phi_1}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, q_4)$$

Note that L_{ϕ_1} and L_{ϕ_2} are empty.

(Q3.2) Let $G_1 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, v, q_4))$ and $G_2 \coloneqq \operatorname{int}_G((v, q_2, q_3, q_4))$. We assume without loss of generality that q_1 is lower than q_3 , q_3 is lower than v and that there are directed paths from q_2 to v and from v to q_4 . Let $\phi_1 \coloneqq (q_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_2, q_4)$ and $\phi_2 \coloneqq (q_3, v, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, q_4)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, q_3, L_{\phi_1}, \nu, M_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2}, q_2, R_{\phi_2}, q_4)$$

Note that R_{ϕ_1} and L_{ϕ_2} are empty.

(Q3.3) Symmetrical to (Q3.2).

(Q4.1) to (Q4.3) Symmetrical to (Q3.1) to (Q3.3).

(Q2.2)⁺ We assume without loss of generality that q_1v is an edge (the case that q_1v is not an edge but vq_3 is an edge is symmetrical). Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, v)), G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_4))$, and $G_3 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_2, q_3, q_4, v))$. Let $\phi_1 := (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v), \phi_2 := (q_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4)$, and $\phi_3 := (q_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4, \ldots, q_3)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, R_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_3}, L_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_3}, q_4, R_{\phi_3}, q_3)$$

(Q3.4)⁺ We assume without loss of generality that q_1v is an edge (the case that q_1v is not an edge but vq_3 is an edge is symmetrical) and that q_1 is lower than q_3 . Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, v))$, $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, v, q_4))$, and $G_3 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_2, q_3, q_4, v))$. Let $\phi_1 := (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v)$, $\phi_2 := (q_1, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4)$, and $\phi_3 := (q_3, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4)$. Then, we construct the following ordering:

$$(q_1, q_3, L_{\phi_3}, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_3}, L_{\phi_2}, \nu, R_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_3}, q_4)$$









 $(Q4.4)^+$ Symmetrical to $(Q3.4)^+$.

We have constructed a vertex ordering for every allowed insertion rule. Furthermore, every vertex ordering that we constructed clearly fulfills Properties (ii) to (v). By the argument from before, they also fulfill Property (i). This concludes the proof of the claim and therefore the proof of the theorem. \Box

Unfortunately, the proof of Theorem 1.6 cannot be easily generalized for all nice canonically upward planar 4-trees. To see this, we look at the insertion rule $(Q2.2)^-$ and the problems that arise when using the invariants used in the proof of Theorem 1.6.

(Q2.2)⁻ Let $G_1 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_1, q_2, v, q_4))$ and $G_2 := \operatorname{int}_G((q_2, q_3, q_4, v))$. Furthermore, let $\phi_1 := (q_1, \ldots, q_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4)$ and $\phi_2 := (q_2, \ldots, v, \ldots, q_4, \ldots, q_3)$ of G_1 and G_2 , respectively, such that $\operatorname{tn}_{\phi_1}(G_1) \leq 5(d(G) - 1)$ and $\operatorname{tn}_{\phi_2}(G_2) \leq 5(d(G) - 1)$. If we combine these orderings in the way that we did for the other rules, i. e. have each block $L_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_1}, R_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_2}$ continuous in our constructed ordering, we get the ordering



 $(q_1, L_{\phi_1}, q_2, X_L, \nu, X_R, q_4, R_{\phi_2}, q_3),$

with $X_L \in \{(M_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}), (L_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_1})\}$ and $X_R \in \{(M_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_1}), (R_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_2})\}$.

No matter how we choose X_L and X_R , neither the vertices of G_1 nor the vertices of G_2 are continuous in the ordering. Thus, there can be a twist that contains edges from G_1 and edges from G_2 . Therefore, the argument from the proof of Theorem 1.6 does not hold. Similarly, for the rules (Q4.4)⁻ and (Q3.4)⁻, for all possible orderings such that each block $L_{\phi_1}, M_{\phi_1}, R_{\phi_1}, L_{\phi_2}, M_{\phi_2}, R_{\phi_2}$ is continuous, neither the vertices of G_1 nor the vertices of G_2 are continuous in the ordering. Thus, in order to show the statement for graphs with construction sequences that contain at least one of these rules, there are most likely different invariants needed.

5.3 Quadrangulations With Only Sources and Sinks

In this section, we look at a subclass of upward planar quasi-4-trees that might be a good starting point for trying to bound the stack number on all upward planar quasi-4-trees. The graph class we want to look at is the class of all $\{(Q3.1)^-, (Q3.2)^-, (Q3.3)^-, (Q4.1)^-, (Q4.2)^-, (Q4.3)^-\}$ -constructible nice upward planar quasi-4-trees. The allowed insertion rules are depicted in Figure 5.12. Clearly, to construct any graph with more than four vertices, we have to start with a quadrangle that is compliant with these insertion rules. This means that we have to start with one of the two quadrangles depicted in Figure 5.13.

We allow exactly the rules $(Q3.1)^-$, $(Q3.2)^-$, $(Q3.3)^-$, $(Q4.1)^-$, $(Q4.2)^-$, and $(Q4.3)^-$ because they replicate only the quadrangles of the base case. This means that for every face f of a graph that is constructed using only these rules, we can insert a vertex into f.

If we disregard the orientation of the edges and look at the underlying undirected graphs, this graph class is exactly the class of all 2-degenerate quadrangulations. For 2-degenerate quadrangulations, Förster, Kaufmann, Merker, Pupyrev, and Raftopoulou [51] show the following theorem.

Theorem 5.10 (Förster, Kaufmann, Merker, Pupyrev, and Raftopoulou, 2023 [51]): *Every* 2-degenerate quadrangulation admits a 5-queue layout.



Figure 5.12: All possible ways to insert a vertex ν in a quadrangular face (q_1, q_2, q_3, q_4) of a nice upward planar quasi-4-tree *G* with only global sources and global sinks.



Figure 5.13: The two base cases for constructing a nice upward planar quasi-4-tree *G* with only global sources and global sinks.

To use their result on the queue number for a bound on the stack number, we can use the following result by Dujmović, Pór, and Wood [42] (something similar was shown before by Pemmaraju [76]).

Theorem 5.11 (Dujmović, Pór, and Wood, 2004 [42]): Let *G* be a bipartite graph that admits a *k*-queue layout. Let $V(G) = A \dot{\cup} B$ such that *A* and *B* are independent sets. Then, there exists a vertex ordering σ of *G* such that $\operatorname{sn}_{\sigma}(G) \leq 2k$ and $a <_{\sigma} b$ for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B$.

Note that Dujmović, Pór, and Wood do not explicitly state this theorem. However, it follows directly from Lemma 13 and Lemma 18 in [42]. Using Theorems 5.10 and 5.11, we can show the following bound for the stack number of $\{(Q3.1)^-, (Q3.2)^-, (Q3.3)^-, (Q4.1)^-, (Q4.2)^-, (Q4.3)^-\}$ -constructible graphs.

Theorem 5.12: Let G be a { $(Q3.1)^-$, $(Q3.2)^-$, $(Q3.3)^-$, $(Q4.1)^-$, $(Q4.2)^-$, $(Q4.3)^-$ }-constructible graph. Then, it holds that $sn(G) \le 10$.

Proof. First, observe that every vertex in *G* is either a sink or a source, i. e. it has either only incoming or only outgoing edges. Thus, the graph *G* is bipartite. Let *G'* be the underlying undirected graph of *G*. Furthermore, let *A* be the set of all sources in *G* and *B* the set of all sinks in *G*. By Theorem 5.10, *G'* admits a 5-queue layout. Thus, by Theorem 5.11, there exists a vertex ordering σ of *G'* such that $\operatorname{sn}_{\sigma}(G') \leq 10$ and $a <_{\sigma} b$ for all $a \in A$ and $b \in B$. Therefore, σ is a topological ordering of *G*, as every source is to the left of every sink, and we have that $\operatorname{sn}_{G}(G) \leq \operatorname{sn}_{\sigma}(G) \leq 10$. This concludes the proof.

While this result gives us a constant bound on the stack number, it is entirely unclear how this approach could be used for general upward planar quasi-4-trees. We believe that it is necessary to construct vertex orderings that are more closely related to the canonical embedding to properly use the construction sequence of an upward planar quasi-4-tree. In particular, it would be interesting to find a way to embed upward planar quasi-4-trees such that there is a constant $c \in \mathbb{N}$ such that there exist no c edges u_1v_1, \ldots, u_cv_c with y-coordinates y_{u_1}, \ldots, y_{u_c} and y_{v_1}, \ldots, y_{v_c} , respectively, with $y_{u_1} < \cdots < y_{u_c} < y_{v_1} < \cdots < y_{v_c}$. If we can find such an embedding, we can order the vertices along the y-axis to obtain a stack layout using a constant number of stacks, as the twist number of this ordering is bounded by c. Note that for the vertex orderings σ in both existing proofs for upward planar 3-trees by Frati, Fulek, and Ruiz-Vargas [52] and by Nöllenburg and Pupyrev [74], as well as our proof for upward planar 2-trees in Chapter 3, we can find an upward planar embedding of the respective graph such that σ is the result of ordering the vertices along the y-axis. Thus, it seems reasonable for something similar to be possible for upward planar quasi-4-trees.

However, we were unable to find such an embedding. We conclude this section by showing a problem that arises when trying to obtain such an embedding in a particular way. Namely, we look at what happens if we place the vertex v in the application of (Q3.2) directly above q_1 . That is, we place v such that there is no vertex v' with a y-coordinate larger than q_1 and less than v at the time of the insertion of v. For the definition of the vertices, refer to Figure 5.12.

Theorem 5.13: For every $k \in \mathbb{N}$, there is a $\{(Q3.1)^-, (Q3.2)^-\}$ -constructible nice upward planar quasi-4-tree G with a construction sequence σ of G such that placing every vertex v that is inserted using $(Q3.2)^-$ immediately above q_1 results in a corresponding vertex ordering along the y-axis that contains a k-twist for every canonical embedding of G abiding this rule.



Figure 5.14: An upward planar quasi-4-tree that is $\{(Q3.1), (Q3.2)\}$ -constructible. If the vertices that are inserted using $(Q3.2)^-$ are placed directly above *a*, there is a *k*-twist consisting of the edges $v_{2k}v_1, v_{2k-1}v_2, \ldots, v_{k+1}v_k$ in the corresponding ordering of the vertices along the *y*-axis $(a, b, v_{2k}, \ldots, v_{k+1}, v_1, \ldots, v_k, c)$ for the construction sequence $(a, b, c, v_1, \ldots, v_{2k})$.

Proof. We show the statement by constructing such a graph *G*. Our goal is to construct the graph *G* depicted in Figure 5.14. We start with the outer quadrangle (a, v_1, b, c) . Then, we apply the insertion rule $(Q3.1)^- k - 1$ times to insert the vertices v_2, \ldots, v_k . Note that all canonical embeddings that result from this have a total ordering on the *y*-coordinates of v_1, \ldots, v_n . Thus, we can assume without loss of generality that $v_1 < \cdots < v_n$ in terms of their *y*-coordinate. This means we have the following quadrangles that bound faces: (a, v_i, b, v_{i+1}) for all $1 \le i < k$. Finally, we apply the insertion rule $(Q3.2)^- k$ times to insert vertices v_{k+1}, \ldots, v_{2k} , with v_{k+i} being inserted in the quadrangle $(a, v_{k-i+1}, b, v_{k-i+2})$ for all $1 \le i \le k$. Thus, v_{k+i} is adjacent to v_{k-i+1} and v_{k-i+2} . Then, the construction sequence $(a, b, c, v_1, \ldots, v_{2k})$ results in the graph depicted in Figure 5.14. Furthermore, since $v_{2k} < \cdots < v_{k+1} < v_1$ in terms of their *y*-coordinate, we have that the corresponding vertex orderings along the *y*-axis of all canonical embeddings of *G* contain a *k*-twist that consists of the edges $v_{2k}v_1, v_{2k-1}v_2, \ldots, v_{k+1}v_k$. This concludes the proof.

Note that the proof only gives a specific construction sequence of the graph that results in a canonical embedding with large twists. Indeed, there are construction sequences for the graph depicted in Figure 5.14 that do not result in large twists. For example, the construction sequence $(a, b, c, v_1 \dots, v_k, v_{2k}, \dots, v_{k+1})$ results in twists of constant size. This leads us to the following open question.

Question 5.14: Is there an upward planar quasi-4-tree G for each $c \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all canonical embeddings of G, the ordering of V(G) along the y-axis contains a twist of size at least c?

6 Conclusion

In this thesis, we looked at how we can construct planar graphs with bounded treewidth and how we can find upper bounds on their stack number. Regarding the stack number, the main contribution of this thesis is the constant upper bound on the stack number of upward planar 2-trees in Chapter 3. Together with the constant upper bound on upward planar 3-trees [52, 74] and the constant upper bound on directed trees [60], this gives us a constant bound on all upward orientations of planar edge maximal graphs with treewidth at most 3. This gives us two possible directions of how to improve the state of the art further. The first is to look at general upward planar graphs with treewidth at most 3.

Question 6.1: Is there a constant $c \in \mathbb{N}$ such that $sn(G) \leq c$ for all upward planar graphs with treewidth at most 3?

Note that this is also an open question for upward planar graphs with treewidth at most 2. The second possible direction, is to look at upward planar graphs with treewidth 4. We believe that the progress on upward planar graphs with treewidth 4 is largely inhibited by the lack of a proper characterization of these graphs. In this thesis we contribute to a better understanding of planar graphs with treewidth 4 by showing that every planar graph with treewidth at most 4 is a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-4-tree. This confirms a conjecture by Förster [50]. Furthermore, we generalize planar quasi-4-trees to planar quasi-k-trees and show that every planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a planar quasi-k-tree. However, the following question remains open.

Question 4.14: Is there a planar quasi-k-tree that is not a subgraph of a nice planar quasi-k-tree?

To use planar quasi-4-trees for improvements on the stack number, we need to look at upward orientations of planar quasi-4-trees. We do this in Chapter 5. Unlike the undirected case, we do not know much about the relation of upward planar quasi-4-trees to other classes of upward planar graphs. In particular, we do not know whether subgraphs of canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees and subgraphs of upward planar quasi-4-trees are the same graph class.

Question 5.4: Is there an upward planar quasi-4-tree that is not a subgraph of a canonically upward planar quasi-4-tree?

While we do know that upward planar 3-trees are a subset of canonically upward planar quasi-4-trees, we do not know whether every upward planar 2-tree is a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-4-tree. This leads us o the following question.

Question 5.5: *Is there an upward planar* 2*-tree that is not a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-*4*-tree?*

Even if there is an upward planar 2-tree, that is not a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-4-tree, it would be of interest, if there is some $k \in \mathbb{N}$ such that every upward planar 2-tree is a subgraph of a (canonically) upward planar quasi-*k*-tree. One way of tackling this problem is to look whether we can triangulate upward planar 2-trees in way that keeps the treewidth *small*. In particular, we can ask the following question.

Question 6.2: Is there $a \in \mathbb{N}$ such that for all upward planar 2-trees *G*, there is an upward triangulation of *G* with treewidth at most *c*?

If we can find such a constant *c*, this would give us that every upward planar 2-tree is a subgraph of a canonically upward planar quasi-*c*-tree. More generally, we can also ask the following question.

Question 6.3: Is there a function f such that every upward planar graph with treewidth k is a subgraph of an upward triangulation with treewidth at most f(k)?

If such a function exists, this would imply that every upward planar graph with treewidth at most k is a subgraph of a canonically upward planar quasi-f(k)-tree. Thus, it would be sufficient to bound the stack number of canonically upward planar quasi-f(k)-trees, to bound the stack number of all upward planar graphs with treewidth at most k.

Even if such a function does not exist, it is of interest, whether we can bound the stack number of (canonically) upward planar quasi-k-trees, as this would give us a bound on upward orientations of planar edge maximal graphs with treewidth k. It would be of particular interest, whether there is a bound on the stack number of (canonically) upward planar quasi-k-trees that is only dependent on k. Therefore, we ask the following question.

Question 6.4: Is there a function f such that $sn(G) \le f(k)$ for all (canonically) upward planar quasi-k-trees G?

As every planar graph has treewidth in $\mathcal{O}(\sqrt{n})$, this would yield a bound of $\mathcal{O}(f(\sqrt{n}))$ on the stack number of upward planar graphs. As the best currently known upper bound is $\mathcal{O}(n^{2/3}\log^{2/3}(n))$ due to Jungeblut, Merker, and Ueckerdt [65], this would be an improvement on the state of the art if $f \in o(k^{4/3}\log^{2/3}(k))$.

Bibliography

- [1] Jawaherul Md. Alam, Michael A. Bekos, Martin Gronemann, Michael Kaufmann, and Sergey Pupyrev. "Queue Layouts of Planar 3-Trees". In: *Graph Drawing and Network Visualization*. Edited by Therese Biedl and Andreas Kerren. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 213–226. ISBN: 978-3-030-04414-5.
- [2] Noga Alon, Jarosław Grytczuk, Mariusz Hałuszczak, and Oliver Riordan. "Nonrepetitive colorings of graphs". In: *Random Structures & Algorithms* Volume 21 (2002), pp. 336–346. eprint: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/pdf/10.1002/rsa.10057.
- [3] Patrizio Angelini, Michael A. Bekos, Philipp Kindermann, and Tamara Mchedlidze. "On Mixed Linear Layouts of Series-Parallel Graphs". In: *Graph Drawing and Network Visualization*. Edited by David Auber and Pavel Valtr. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2020, pp. 151–159. ISBN: 978-3-030-68766-3.
- [4] Michael J. Bannister, William E. Devanny, Vida Dujmović, David Eppstein, and David R. Wood. "Track layouts, layered path decompositions, and leveled planarity". In: *Algorithmica* Volume 81 (2019), pp. 1561–1583.
- [5] Michael Bekos, Martin Gronemann, and Chrysanthi N. Raftopoulou. "An improved upper bound on the queue number of planar graphs". In: *Algorithmica* Volume 85 (2023), pp. 544–562.
- [6] Michael A. Bekos, Giordano Da Lozzo, Fabrizio Frati, Martin Gronemann, Tamara Mchedlidze, and Chrysanthi N. Raftopoulou. "Recognizing DAGs with page-number 2 is NP-complete". In: *Theoretical Computer Science* Volume 946 (2023), p. 113689. ISSN: 0304-3975. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tcs.2023.113689.
- [7] Michael A. Bekos, Giordano Da Lozzo, Svenja M. Griesbach, Martin Gronemann, Fabrizio Montecchiani, and Chrysanthi N. Raftopoulou. "Book embeddings of k-framed graphs and k-map graphs". In: *Discrete Mathematics* Volume 347 (2024), p. 113690. ISSN: 0012-365X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.disc.2023.113690.
- [8] Michael A. Bekos, Giordano Da Lozzo, Petr Hliněný, and Michael Kaufmann. "Graph Product Structure for h-Framed Graphs". In: 33rd International Symposium on Algorithms and Computation (ISAAC 2022). Edited by Sang Won Bae and Heejin Park. Vol. 248. Schloss Dagstuhl – Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2022, 23:1–23:15. DOI: 10.4230/ LIPIcs.ISAAC.2022.23.
- [9] Michael A. Bekos, Michael Kaufmann, Fabian Klute, Sergey Pupyrev, Chrysanthi N. Raftopoulou, and Torsten Ueckerdt. "Four Pages Are Indeed Necessary for Planar Graphs". In: J. Comput. Geom. Volume 11 (2020), pp. 332–353. DOI: 10.20382/JOCG. V11I1A12.
- [10] Frank Bernhart and Paul C. Kainen. "The book thickness of a graph". In: *Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B* Volume 27 (1979), pp. 320–331. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0095-8956(79)90021-2.

- [11] Sujoy Bhore, Giordano Da Lozzo, Fabrizio Montecchiani, and Martin Nöllenburg. "On the Upward Book Thickness Problem: Combinatorial and Complexity Results". In: *Graph Drawing and Network Visualization*. Edited by Helen C. Purchase and Ignaz Rutter. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 242–256. ISBN: 978-3-030-92931-2.
- [12] Therese Biedl and Lesvia Elena Ruiz Velázquez. "Drawing planar 3-trees with given face areas". In: Computational Geometry Volume 46 (2013), pp. 276–285. ISSN: 0925-7721. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.comgeo.2012.09.004.
- [13] Carla Binucci, Giordano Da Lozzo, Emilio Di Giacomo, Walter Didimo, Tamara Mchedlidze, and Maurizio Patrignani. "Upward Book Embeddings of st-Graphs". In: 35th International Symposium on Computational Geometry (SoCG 2019). Edited by Gill Barequet and Yusu Wang. Vol. 129. Dagstuhl, Germany: Schloss Dagstuhl – Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2019, 13:1–13:22. ISBN: 978-3-95977-104-7. DOI: 10.4230/LIPIcs.SoCG.2019.13.
- [14] Robin Leigh Blankenship. *Book embeddings of graphs*. Louisiana State University and Agricultural & Mechanical College, 2003.
- [15] Marthe Bonamy, Cyril Gavoille, and Michał Pilipczuk. "Shorter Labeling Schemes for Planar Graphs". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics Volume 36 (Sept. 2022), pp. 2082–2099. DOI: 10.1137/20M1330464.
- [16] Édouard Bonnet, O-joung Kwon, and David R. Wood. Reduced bandwidth: a qualitative strengthening of twin-width in minor-closed classes (and beyond). 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ ARXIV.2202.11858.
- [17] Prosenjit Bose, Vida Dujmović, Mehrnoosh Javarsineh, and Pat Morin. *Asymptotically Optimal Vertex Ranking of Planar Graphs*. 2020. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2007.06455.
- [18] Franz J. Brandenburg. Book Embeddings of k-Map Graphs. 2023. arXiv: 2012.06874.
- [19] Franz J. Brandenburg. Embedding 1-Planar Graphs in Ten Pages. 2023. arXiv: 2312.15786.
- [20] Jonathan F. Buss and Peter W. Shor. "On the pagenumber of planar graphs". In: Proceedings of the Sixteenth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing. New York, NY, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 1984, pp. 98–100. ISBN: 0897911334. DOI: 10.1145/800057.808670.
- [21] Rutger Campbell, J. Pascal Gollin, Kevin Hendrey, Thomas Lesgourgues, Bojan Mohar, Youri Tamitegama, Jane Tan, and David R. Wood. *Clustered Colouring of Graph Products*. 2024. arXiv: 2407.21360.
- [22] Fan R. K. Chung, Frank Thomson Leighton, and Arnold L. Rosenberg. "Embedding Graphs in Books: A Layout Problem with Applications to VLSI Design". In: SIAM Journal on Algebraic Discrete Methods Volume 8 (1987), pp. 33–58. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/ 0608002.
- [23] Fan R. K. Chung, Frank Thomson Leighton, and Arnold L. Rosenberg. "Embedding Graphs in Books: A Layout Problem with Applications to VLSI Design". In: SIAM Journal on Algebraic Discrete Methods Volume 8 (1987), pp. 33–58. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/ 0608002.
- [24] Philipp de Col, Fabian Klute, and Martin Nöllenburg. "Mixed Linear Layouts: Complexity, Heuristics, and Experiments". In: *Graph Drawing and Network Visualization*. Edited by Daniel Archambault and Csaba D. Tóth. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2019, pp. 460–467. ISBN: 978-3-030-35802-0.

- [25] James Davies. "Improved bounds for colouring circle graphs". In: Proceedings of the American Mathematical Society Volume 150 (Dec. 2022), pp. 5121–5135. ISSN: 0002-9939, 1088-6826. DOI: 10.1090/proc/16044.
- [26] Michał Dębski, Piotr Micek, Felix Schröder, and Stefan Felsner. "Improved Bounds for Centered Colorings". In: Advances in Combinatorics (Aug. 2021). DOI: 10.19086/aic.27351.
- [27] Giuseppe Di Battista and Roberto Tamassia. "Algorithms for plane representations of acyclic digraphs". In: *Theoretical Computer Science* Volume 61 (1988), pp. 175–198. ISSN: 0304-3975. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/0304-3975(88)90123-5.
- [28] Emilio Di Giacomo, Walter Didimo, Giuseppe Liotta, and Stephen K Wismath. "Book embeddability of series-parallel digraphs". In: *Algorithmica* Volume 45 (2006), pp. 531– 547.
- [29] Emilio Di Giacomo and Henk Meijer. "Track Drawings of Graphs with Constant Queue Number". en. In: *Graph Drawing*. Edited by Gerhard Goos, Juris Hartmanis, Jan Van Leeuwen, and Giuseppe Liotta. Vol. 2912. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004, pp. 214–225. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-540-24595-7_20.
- [30] Marc Distel, Robert Hickingbotham, Michał T. Seweryn, and David R. Wood. "Powers of planar graphs, product structure, and blocking partitions". In: *European Conference on Combinatorics, Graph Theory and Applications* (Aug. 2023), pp. 355–361. DOI: 10.5817/ CZ.MUNI.EUROCOMB23-049.
- [31] Vida Dujmovic, Pat Morin, and David R. Wood. "Layout of Graphs with Bounded Tree-Width". In: *SIAM Journal on Computing* Volume 34 (2005), pp. 553–579. eprint: *https://doi.org/10.1137/S0097539702416141*.
- [32] Vida Dujmovic and David R. Wood. "Graph treewidth and geometric thickness parameters". In: *Discrete & Computational Geometry* Volume 37 (2007), pp. 641–670.
- [33] Vida Dujmović, Louis Esperet, Cyril Gavoille, Gwenaël Joret, Piotr Micek, and Pat Morin. "Adjacency Labelling for Planar Graphs (and Beyond)". In: J. ACM Volume 68 (Oct. 2021). DOI: 10.1145/3477542.
- [34] Vida Dujmović, Louis Esperet, Gwenaël Joret, Bartosz Walczak, and David R. Wood.
 "Planar graphs have bounded nonrepetitive chromatic number". In: *Advances in Combinatorics* (Mar. 6, 2020). DOI: 10.19086/aic.12100.
- [35] Vida Dujmović, Louis Esperet, Pat Morin, Bartosz Walczak, and David R. Wood. "Clustered 3-colouring graphs of bounded degree". In: *Combinatorics, Probability and Computing* Volume 31 (2022), pp. 123–135. DOI: 10.1017/S0963548321000213.
- [36] Vida Dujmović, Louis Esperet, Pat Morin, and David R. Wood. "Proof of the Clustered Hadwiger Conjecture". In: 2023 IEEE 64th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS). 2023, pp. 1921–1930. DOI: 10.1109/FOCS57990.2023.00116.
- [37] Vida Dujmović and Fabrizio Frati. "Stack and Queue Layouts via Layered Separators". In: *Journal of Graph Algorithms and Applications* Volume 22 (2018), pp. 89–99. DOI: 10.7155/jgaa.00454.
- [38] Vida Dujmović, Fabrizio Frati, Gwenaël Joret, and David R. Wood. "Nonrepetitive Colourings of Planar Graphs with \$O(\log n)\$ Colours". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* (Mar. 1, 2013), P51–P51. ISSN: 1077-8926. DOI: 10.37236/3153.

- [39] Vida Dujmović, Gwenaël Joret, Piotr Micek, Pat Morin, Torsten Ueckerdt, and David R. Wood. "Planar Graphs Have Bounded Queue-Number". In: J. ACM Volume 67 (Aug. 2020). DOI: 10.1145/3385731.
- [40] Vida Dujmović, Pat Morin, and Saeed Odak. Odd Colourings of Graph Products. 2022. DOI: 10.48550/ARXIV.2202.12882.
- [41] Vida Dujmović, Pat Morin, and David R. Wood. "Graph product structure for nonminor-closed classes". In: *Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B* Volume 162 (2023), pp. 34–67. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jctb.2023.03.004.
- [42] Vida Dujmović, Attila Pór, and David R. Wood. "Track Layouts of Graphs". In: Discrete Mathematics & Theoretical Computer Science Volume Vol. 6 no. 2 (Jan. 2004). DOI: 10.46298/dmtcs.315.
- [43] Vida Dujmović and David R. Wood. "Three-Dimensional Grid Drawings with Subquadratic Volume". In: Graph Drawing. Edited by Giuseppe Liotta. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2004, pp. 190–201. ISBN: 978-3-540-24595-7.
- [44] Vida Dujmović and David R. Wood. "Stacks, Queues and Tracks: Layouts of Graph Subdivisions". In: Discrete Mathematics & Theoretical Computer Science Volume Vol. 7 (Jan. 2005). DOI: 10.46298/dmtcs.346.
- [45] Zdeněk Dvořák, Daniel Gonçalves, Abhiruk Lahiri, Jane Tan, and Torsten Ueckerdt. "On Comparable Box Dimension". In: 38th International Symposium on Computational Geometry (SoCG 2022). Edited by Xavier Goaoc and Michael Kerber. Vol. 224. Dagstuhl, Germany: Schloss Dagstuhl – Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2022, 38:1–38:14. DOI: 10.4230/LIPIcs.SoCG.2022.38.
- Zdeněk Dvořák, Tony Huynh, Gwenael Joret, Chun-Hung Liu, and David R. Wood.
 "Notes on Graph Product Structure Theory". In: 2019-20 MATRIX Annals. Edited by Jan de Gier, Cheryl E. Praeger, and Terence Tao. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2021, pp. 513–533. DOI: 10.1007/978-3-030-62497-2_32.
- [47] Hikoe Enomoto and Miki Miyauchi. "Stack-queue mixed layouts of graph subdivisions". In: *Forum on Information Technology*. 2014, pp. 47–56.
- [48] Hikoe Enomoto, Tomoki Nakamigawa, and Katsuhiro Ota. "On the Pagenumber of Complete Bipartite Graphs". In: *Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B* Volume 71 (1997), pp. 111–120. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1006/jctb.1997.1773.
- [49] Louis Esperet, Gwenaël Joret, and Pat Morin. "Sparse universal graphs for planarity". In: Journal of the London Mathematical Society Volume 108 (2023), pp. 1333–1357. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1112/jlms.12781.
- [50] Henry Förster. From Tripods to Bipods: Reducing the Queue Number of Planar Graphs Costs Just One Leg. 2024. arXiv: 2401.16191.
- [51] Henry Förster, Michael Kaufmann, Laura Merker, Sergey Pupyrev, and Chrysanthi N. Raftopoulou. "Linear Layouts of Bipartite Planar Graphs". In: *Algorithms and Data Structures*. Edited by Pat Morin and Subhash Suri. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2023, pp. 444–459. ISBN: 978-3-031-38906-1.
- [52] Fabrizio Frati, Radoslav Fulek, and Andres J. Ruiz-Vargas. "On the Page Number of Upward Planar Directed Acyclic Graphs". In: *Journal of Graph Algorithms and Applications* Volume 17 (2013), pp. 221–244. ISSN: 1526-1719. DOI: 10.7155/jgaa.00292.

- [53] Joseph L. Ganley and Lenwood S. Heath. "The pagenumber of k-trees is O(k)". In: Discrete Applied Mathematics Volume 109 (2001), pp. 215–221. ISSN: 0166-218X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0166-218X(00)00178-5.
- [54] Deborah Haun. "Mixed Page Number of Planar Directed Acyclic Graphs". Karlsruhe Institute of Technology, 2023.
- [55] Lenwood S. Heath. "Embedding Planar Graphs In Seven Pages". In: 25th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science, 1984. 1984, pp. 74–83. DOI: 10.1109/SFCS. 1984.715903.
- [56] Lenwood S. Heath and Sorin Istrail. "The page number of genus g graphs is O(g)". In: Proceedings of the Nineteenth Annual ACM Symposium on Theory of Computing. New York, New York, USA: Association for Computing Machinery, 1987, pp. 388–397. ISBN: 0897912217. DOI: 10.1145/28395.28437.
- [57] Lenwood S. Heath, Frank Thomson Leighton, and Arnold L. Rosenberg. "Comparing Queues and Stacks As Machines for Laying Out Graphs". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics Volume 5 (1992), pp. 398–412. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/0405031.
- [58] Lenwood S. Heath and Sriram V. Pemmaraju. "Stack and Queue Layouts of Posets". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics Volume 10 (1997), pp. 599–625. eprint: https:// doi.org/10.1137/S0895480193252380.
- [59] Lenwood S. Heath and Sriram V. Pemmaraju. "Stack and Queue Layouts of Directed Acyclic Graphs: Part II". In: SIAM Journal on Computing Volume 28 (1999), pp. 1588– 1626. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/S0097539795291550.
- [60] Lenwood S. Heath, Sriram V. Pemmaraju, and Ann N. Trenk. "Stack and Queue Layouts of Directed Acyclic Graphs: Part I". In: SIAM Journal on Computing Volume 28 (1999), pp. 1510–1539. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/S0097539795280287.
- [61] Lenwood S. Heath and Arnold L. Rosenberg. "Laying Out Graphs Using Queues". In: SIAM Journal on Computing Volume 21 (1992), pp. 927–958. eprint: https://doi.org/ 10.1137/0221055.
- [62] Lenwood S. Heath and Arnold L. Rosenberg. "Laying Out Graphs Using Queues". In: SIAM Journal on Computing Volume 21 (1992), pp. 927–958. eprint: https://doi.org/ 10.1137/0221055.
- [63] Robert Hickingbotham and David R. Wood. "Shallow Minors, Graph Products, and Beyond-Planar Graphs". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics Volume 38 (2024), pp. 1057–1089. DOI: 10.1137/22M1540296.
- [64] Gwenaël Joret and Clément Rambaud. "Neighborhood Complexity of Planar Graphs". en. In: *Combinatorica* (June 2024). ISSN: 1439-6912. DOI: *10.1007/s00493-024-00110-6*.
- [65] Paul Jungeblut, Laura Merker, and Torsten Ueckerdt. "A Sublinear Bound on the Page Number of Upward Planar Graphs". In: SIAM Journal on Discrete Mathematics Volume 37 (2023), pp. 2312–2331. eprint: https://doi.org/10.1137/22M1522450.
- [66] Paul Jungeblut, Laura Merker, and Torsten Ueckerdt. "Directed Acyclic Outerplanar Graphs Have Constant Stack Number". In: 2023 IEEE 64th Annual Symposium on Foundations of Computer Science (FOCS). Los Alamitos, CA, USA: IEEE Computer Society, Nov. 2023, pp. 1937–1952. DOI: 10.1109/FOCS57990.2023.00118.

- [67] Daniel Kráľ, Kristýna Pekárková, and Kenny Štorgel. "Twin-Width of Graphs on Surfaces". In: 49th International Symposium on Mathematical Foundations of Computer Science (MFCS 2024). Edited by Rastislav Královič and Antonín Kučera. Vol. 306. Dagstuhl, Germany: Schloss Dagstuhl Leibniz-Zentrum für Informatik, 2024, 66:1–66:15. ISBN: 978-3-95977-335-5. DOI: 10.4230/LIPIcs.MFCS.2024.66.
- [68] Jan Kratochvíl and Michal Vaner. A note on planar partial 3-trees. 2012. arXiv: 1210.8113.
- [69] S.M. Malitz. "Genus g Graphs Have Pagenumber O(√g)". In: *Journal of Algorithms* Volume 17 (1994), pp. 85–109. ISSN: 0196-6774. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1006/jagm.1994. 1028.
- [70] S.M. Malitz. "Graphs with E Edges Have Pagenumber $O(\sqrt{E})$ ". In: *Journal of Algorithms* Volume 17 (1994), pp. 71–84. ISSN: 0196-6774. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1006/jagm.1994.1027.
- [71] Ehab S. El-Mallah and Charles J. Colbourn. "On two dual classes of planar graphs". In: Discrete Mathematics Volume 80 (1990), pp. 21–40. ISSN: 0012-365X. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0012-365X (90)90293-Q.
- [72] Tamara Mchedlidze and Antonios Symvonis. "Crossing-Free Acyclic Hamiltonian Path Completion for Planar st-Digraphs". In: *Algorithms and Computation*. Edited by Yingfei Dong, Ding-Zhu Du, and Oscar Ibarra. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2009, pp. 882–891. ISBN: 978-3-642-10631-6.
- [73] Jaroslav Nešetřil and Patrice Ossona de Mendez. "Tree-depth, subgraph coloring and homomorphism bounds". In: *European Journal of Combinatorics* Volume 27 (2006), pp. 1022–1041. ISSN: 0195-6698. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejc.2005.01.010.
- [74] Martin Nöllenburg and Sergey Pupyrev. "On Families of Planar DAGs with Constant Stack Number". In: *Graph Drawing and Network Visualization*. Edited by Michael A. Bekos and Markus Chimani. Cham: Springer Nature Switzerland, 2023, pp. 135–151. ISBN: 978-3-031-49272-3.
- [75] Richard Nowakowski and Andrew Parker. "Ordered sets, pagenumbers and planarity". In: *Order* Volume 6 (1989), pp. 209–218.
- [76] Sriram Venkata Pemmaraju. *Exploring the powers of stacks and queues via graph layouts*. Virginia Polytechnic Institute and State University, 1992.
- [77] Sergey Pupyrev. "Mixed Linear Layouts of Planar Graphs". In: Graph Drawing and Network Visualization. Edited by Fabrizio Frati and Kwan-Liu Ma. Cham: Springer International Publishing, 2018, pp. 197–209. ISBN: 978-3-319-73915-1.
- Sergey Pupyrev. "Improved Bounds for Track Numbers of Planar Graphs". en. In: *Journal of Graph Algorithms and Applications* Volume 24 (2020), pp. 323–341. ISSN: 1526-1719. DOI: 10.7155/jgaa.00536.
- [79] Sergey Pupyrev. "Linear Graph Layouts". URL: https://spupyrev.github.io/linearlayouts. html (Accessed: 14 Aug. 2024).
- [80] S. Rengarajan and C. E. Veni Madhavan. "Stack and queue number of 2-trees". In: *Computing and Combinatorics*. Edited by Ding-Zhu Du and Ming Li. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 1995, pp. 203–212. ISBN: 978-3-540-44733-7.
- [81] Neil Robertson and Paul D. Seymour. "Graph minors. II. Algorithmic aspects of treewidth". In: Journal of Algorithms Volume 7 (1986), pp. 309–322. DOI: 10.1016/0196-6774(86)90023-4.

- [82] Arnold L. Rosenberg. "The Diogenes Approach to Testable Fault-Tolerant Arrays of Processors". In: *IEEE Transactions on Computers* Volume C-32 (1983), pp. 902–910. DOI: 10.1109/TC.1983.1676134.
- [83] Mitsunori Togasaki and Koichi Yamazaki. "Pagenumber of pathwidth-k graphs and strong pathwidth-k graphs". In: *Discrete Mathematics* Volume 259 (2002), pp. 361–368. ISSN: 0012-365X. DOI: https://doi.org/10.1016/S0012-365X (02)00542-3.
- [84] Torsten Ueckerdt, David R. Wood, and Wendy Yi. "An Improved Planar Graph Product Structure Theorem". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* (2022), P2–51. DOI: 10.37236/10614.
- [85] Veit Wiechert. "On the Queue-Number of Graphs with Bounded Tree-Width". en. In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* (Mar. 2017), P1.65–P1.65. ISSN: 1077-8926. DOI: 10.37236/6429.
- [86] David R. Wood. "Queue Layouts, Tree-Width, and Three-Dimensional Graph Drawing". In: FST TCS 2002: Foundations of Software Technology and Theoretical Computer Science. Edited by Manindra Agrawal and Anil Seth. Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer Berlin Heidelberg, 2002, pp. 348–359. ISBN: 978-3-540-36206-7.
- [87] David R. Wood. "Queue layouts, tree-width, and three-dimensional graph drawing". English. In: *FST TCS 2002*. Vol. 2556 LNCS. Springer, 2002, pp. 348–359. ISBN: 3540002251. DOI: 10.1007/3-540-36206-1_31.
- [88] David R. Wood. "Nonrepetitive Graph Colouring". In: *The Electronic Journal of Combinatorics* Volume 1000 (Sept. 2021). ISSN: 1077-8926. DOI: 10.37236/9777.
- [89] Mihalis Yannakakis. "Embedding planar graphs in four pages". In: Journal of Computer and System Sciences Volume 38 (1989), pp. 36–67. ISSN: 0022-0000. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/0022-0000(89)90032-9.
- [90] Mihalis Yannakakis. "Planar graphs that need four pages". In: Journal of Combinatorial Theory, Series B Volume 145 (2020), pp. 241–263. ISSN: 0095-8956. DOI: https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jctb.2020.05.008.